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‘A bigger voice than our own’

Letter to the Legislative
Council and the Legislative
Assembly

Our purpose

To

Our intent

The Honourable the President of the Legislative
Council

Our actions follow these principles:

and
The Honourable the Speaker of the Legislative
Assembly
Dear Presiding Officers
I am pleased to transmit, in accordance with
section 25 of the Ombudsman Act 1973, my
annual report of the Victorian Ombudsman’s
office for the year ended 30 June 2015 for
presentation to Parliament.

The Victorian Ombudsman exists to ensure
fairness for all Victorians in their dealings
with the public sector and to improve public
administration.

• ensuring fairness
• enhancing accountability
• fostering continuous improvement
through collaboration
• protecting human rights.

Our commitment
We commit to:
• providing accessible and responsive
services
• educating Victorians on the role of the
Ombudsman, how to complain and what
they should expect from their dealings
with the public sector
• challenging poor public administration

Deborah Glass OBE
Ombudsman
6 October 2015
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• working constructively with the public
sector to promote best practice
• providing authoritative and informative
reports to the Victorian Parliament.

‘A bigger voice than our own’
A comment from our survey of 1,000 Victorians
February 2015

The Victorian Ombudsman
The Parliament of Victoria established the
office of the Victorian Ombudsman on
30 October 1973, in recognition of the
power imbalance between the individual
and the state and the need for government
transparency and accountability.
This report provides a summary of the
office of the Victorian Ombudsman’s
performance for the 2014-15 financial year,
in fulfilling our purpose and commitments.
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52%

2013-14

12%

2014-15

proportion of

closed cases within

our jurisdiction

up 12%

86 employees

OUR
WORK FAIRNESS
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2014-15

ACCOUNTABILITY

24 presentations

We travelled

36,360kms

OUR
PERFORMANCE

Parliamentary
reports tabled

OUR
ORGANISATION

5,377 people

used our website
redirection service

STATUTORY
FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURES STATEMENTS

50

HUMAN
RIGHTS
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COLLABORATION
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Ombudsman’s
foreword

This is my first full year as Victorian
Ombudsman. As only the fifth occupant
of the role since it was created in 1973,
I am aware of the great privilege and
responsibility of being one of only three
independent statutory officers of Parliament
enshrined in our Constitution.
My 10-year term provides a rare opportunity
within the public sector to map a long-term
strategy. My office has recently developed
a new strategic framework – setting out a
plan to ensure fairness for Victorians in their
dealings with the public sector and improve
public administration. This framework is
captured in a quote from a member of the
public in the research we undertook on
public perceptions of the office – that the
Ombudsman is ‘ … a bigger voice than our
own’.

‘The Ombudsman reports to Parliament
and it is essentially the disclosures in
his reports which lead to the censure
of public opinion. It is difficult to prove
but one can assume … this inhibits the
actions of public servants. They know
that what they do will be open to
scrutiny in a way in which they could
not be scrutinised by a court.’
Hansard: Ombudsman Bill debate,
March 1973
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My office has the capacity to escalate
concerns – to be a bigger voice – on
individual matters and systemic ones.
What has become clear, however, is that
many Victorians are not aware of the
Ombudsman’s services, and do not know
how to access them or what to expect
if they do. This is particularly apparent
among disadvantaged groups – all too
often, those with the greatest need for
Ombudsman services are the least likely to
use them. Addressing this and making my
office much more accessible – including
to rural and regional Victoria – is a central
aspect of my vision.
I want to see a system that is accessible
to all, as well as timely and fair. Not all
complaints require investigation, and
many can be resolved quickly and
informally. But whether or not they are
investigated, all complaints contribute
to a picture of dissatisfaction, which can
be used to drive improvements in public
administration. I want to be able to use
that data to identify systemic issues that
may require investigation, and to feed back
to departments and agencies so they can
respond better to public concerns.

Accountability is, and will remain, a core
theme in Ombudsman work. Examples in
the past year include the investigation into
the now-defunct Office of Living Victoria,
and our investigation into VicRoads officers
writing off their speeding infringements.

OUR
PERFORMANCE
OUR
ORGANISATION

The work of the Ombudsman can and
does make a difference, and this report
sets out some of the many ways we did so
in the past year. Our workload continues
to increase – 38,980 approaches, six per
cent more jurisdictional approaches than
last year – not, I would suggest, because
the public sector has deteriorated, but as
awareness of this office grows.

HUMAN
RIGHTS

Enquiries and investigations

Very few complaints result in reports tabled
in Parliament, but one that did was our
investigation into the former Department
of Health’s oversight of the Supported
Residential Service, Mentone Gardens,
described on page 34. It would be hard to
find a more powerful illustration of unfairness
than the plight of a group of very elderly
people, many of whom lost their life savings
in their reliance on government oversight.

COLLABORATION

Stephen Mumford, who first joined
the Ombudsman’s office in 2000, was
appointed Assistant Ombudsman in
January 2015.

Our major investigations last year covered
the broad themes of fairness, accountability,
collaboration and human rights, most of
them initiated through my own motion
powers, or without a complaint.

ACCOUNTABILITY

Deputy Ombudsman John Taylor, who
had been in the role since 2004, retired in
December 2014. He provided robust and
courageous support to my predecessor,
invaluable support to me and vital stability
with the change of Ombudsman. He was
succeeded in January 2015 by Megan
Philpot, who had been Deputy Ombudsman
in South Australia since 2009 and Acting
Ombudsman of that state for half of 2014.

This report presents a handful of examples
of the thousands of complaints informally
resolved, where outcomes can range
from an apology or explanation, to loss or
damage being rectified, money refunded or
fines cancelled. In each of these cases, my
staff consider whether an administrative
action was fair and reasonable, and if not,
whether there is a practical outcome we
can achieve. We cannot, of course, please
everyone, but in all cases we provide a
service that is free, fair and independent.

OUR
WORK FAIRNESS

A new strategy required a new structure.
Responsibilities within my office are now
divided between the Deputy Ombudsman,
who leads on statutory functions, and the
Assistant Ombudsman, who leads the
services area, including initiatives in digital
strategy and community engagement.

ABOUT
FOREWORD THE VO

Structure

STATUTORY
FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURES STATEMENTS

Growth inevitably produces challenges
and we are working to ensure we are as
efficient as possible in our daily work, while
remaining professional and responsive.
Last year my staff carried out 3,256 formal
enquiries and investigations, covering many
of the thousand or so entities over which
the Ombudsman has jurisdiction.
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Human rights is an area of Ombudsman
work that has been implicit, rather than
explicit in the past but is now a clear area
of focus. My office has a specific function
to investigate breaches of the Charter
of Human Rights and Responsibilities
legislation and many of the complaints we
receive, particularly from prisoners, allege
breaches of human rights. Through the lens
of the Charter, we examined allegations of
excessive force by authorised officers on the
public transport network and some specific
rights of people with mental illness. We also
put our view to the Victorian Government’s
scheduled review of the Charter.
I commenced two major own motion
investigations with a strong human
rights focus this year – rehabilitation and
reintegration of prisoners, and the reporting
and investigation of abuse in the disability
sector. As part of the prisons investigation,
we received helpful responses from many
interested parties to my discussion paper,
and expect to table the final report soon1.
The first part of the disability investigation
was tabled in June 2015 with a view to
contributing to policy development in this
area through the Victorian parliamentary
inquiry and the National Disability Insurance
Scheme. The second part will be completed
shortly.
What may be surprising to some is the
degree to which I seek to collaborate with
the public sector. Collaboration does not
compromise my independence, which
remains sacrosanct. No-one instructs
me what or how to investigate, what my
findings or recommendations should
be, or what I table in Parliament. But if
my investigations are to have impact
and achieve real improvement in public
administration, the problems they identify
need to be owned by departments and
agencies. Only they can make the practical,
operational or cultural changes that may be
needed to address them.

1

6

The report, Investigation into the rehabilitation and
reintegration of prisoners in Victoria, was tabled in
Parliament on 17 September 2015.
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It was with this in mind that we launched
an investigation into complaint handling
by local councils, which resulted in a good
practice guide to help them do it better.
We worked in collaboration with all 79
councils in Victoria, and early feedback is
that this generated opportunity for real
change in this sector. Similarly, collaboration
with Public Transport Victoria resulted
in recommendations that may yet see
systemic change with authorised officers.
Our formal investigations are, however,
relatively few, and remain dominated by
protected disclosures referred by IBAC,
which the law at present requires me to
investigate. While some of these raise
serious issues that should be independently
investigated, many involve relatively
minor matters that could have been dealt
with more efficiently without formal
investigation.

Community engagement and digital
strategy
Our growing caseload is partly the result
of small steps over the past year to engage
more widely with the people of Victoria.
Some of that outreach is personal – I have
begun to visit regional Victoria, talking to
local media, public servants and community
groups, such as community legal centres
and advocates. For the first time in recent
history, these visits now also include
complaint sessions for the public, so people
in regional Victoria do not need to call us
or come to Melbourne to make a complaint.
From the many people I have talked to
during these visits, it is clear that there is a
considerable appetite for the Ombudsman
to provide this service across Victoria.

OUR
ORGANISATION
STATUTORY
FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURES STATEMENTS
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OUR
PERFORMANCE

Deborah Glass
Ombudsman

HUMAN
RIGHTS

The need for a review of the confidentiality
provisions in the Ombudsman Act grows
increasingly apparent. I will be unable to
fulfil my aspirations to provide valuable
feedback to the public sector or to engage
fully with the Victorian public without
legislative change permitting greater
communication in the public interest. I have
received an assurance from the government
that some of the changes I have requested
will be before the Parliament this year, and I
wait to see.

The work and the vision are of course only
possible through my staff – from the intake
team, who patiently respond to thousands
of phone calls each year from people who
can be anxious, distressed and occasionally
abusive; investigation officers, who make
thousands of enquiries of agencies to
resolve complaints and investigate systemic
issues and improper conduct; those who
ensure we capture and analyse the data
from complaints; arrange outreach to
regional Victoria; to those who provide
the daily support to do the job at hand. It
is a pleasure to work with people who so
resoundingly support the values of fairness
and integrity, and who demonstrate their
commitment to those values on a daily
basis. Many of them have worked tirelessly
on individual cases and projects and I thank
everyone for their dedication and hard work.

COLLABORATION

I have previously noted the resourcing
challenges with regard to protected
disclosures. It remains frustrating that
much of my limited investigative capacity
continues to be spent in this area and I
continue to seek changes to the law to give
me the ability to deal more flexibly with
such cases.

ACCOUNTABILITY

I set out last year my views on the need
for legislative change, and have now
written to two successive governments on
what is needed to ensure the role of the
Ombudsman is fit for the 21st century.

As an independent officer of Parliament,
however, I believe that my budget should
not be reliant on the executive – over whom
I have jurisdiction. Budgets must always be
subject to appropriate independent scrutiny
and there are independent agencies
receiving an appropriation direct from the
Parliament to which they are accountable.
This arrangement would be in the best longterm interests of my office, Parliament and
the public.

OUR
WORK FAIRNESS

Reform

Developing the new vision for the office will
take additional resources and I am grateful
to the Department of Premier and Cabinet
for providing initial funding to allow me to
develop the community engagement and
digital initiatives. Next year I will be seeking
long-term funding in the interests of better,
smarter public administration.

ABOUT
FOREWORD THE VO

Greater awareness should lead to more
complaints. With the inevitability of limited
resources, we need to work smarter, to use
the data from complaints to identify themes
and trends that can drive improvements.
This is a core feature of the digital strategy
we have begun to develop, and will be
testing over the coming year.
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About the
Victorian
Ombudsman

Legislation
Four pieces of legislation guide our
operations:
• Ombudsman Act 1973
• Protected Disclosure Act 2012

The Victorian Ombudsman works to improve
public services in Victoria and to ensure
decision making is lawful, reasonable and fair.

• Charter of Human Rights and
Responsibilities Act 2006 (Charter of
Human Rights)
• Constitution Act 1975.

We provide a free, fair and independent
service to people with complaints about
the decisions or actions of over 1,000
Victorian state government departments
and agencies.

Our responsibilities

The Ombudsman can also start her own
investigations into government bodies in the
public interest, without a complaint.

An authority can be a state government
department or administrative office or
another public body, such as a:

Under the Ombudsman Act, our principal
function is to investigate administrative
actions taken by or in an authority.

• private or public prison
• statutory authority, for example,
WorkSafe or the Transport Accident
Commission

Figure 1: Complaint flow chart

Complaint
received

8

Is it in our
jurisdiction?

Yes

Have there been
attempts to
resolve it?

No

No

Provide
complainant
contact details
of relevant
organisation to
lodge complaint

Refer complainant
back to agency
to give agency
opportunity to
resolve
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Yes

Could it be more
appropriately
handled by
another body?
Yes

Refer

No

• unreasonable, unjust, oppressive or
discriminatory

• child protection or family support service.

• taken for an improper purpose or on
irrelevant grounds

• a decision or an act
• refusing or failing to make a decision
or to perform an act

• the making of a recommendation
(including to a Minister).
We can make enquiries or start an
investigation where the action is:

Is investigation warranted?

Informal resolution

Conduct investigation

OUR
ORGANISATION

Make enquiries

No

STATUTORY
FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURES STATEMENTS

Form opinions and make
recommendations

Advise complainant

In some cases

Advise public sector body
Report to Parliament
Advise Minister
VICTORIAN OMBUDSMAN ANNUAL REPORT 2015

OUR
PERFORMANCE

Yes

To ensure we are accountable, we are subject
to oversight by the Victorian Parliament and
its Accountability and Oversight Committee,
and the Victorian Inspectorate.

HUMAN
RIGHTS

We cannot investigate actions that appear to involve
corrupt conduct, or that are taken under the Freedom of
Information Act 1982.

Are enquiries
warranted?

After an investigation, we can report to the
authority involved, the responsible Minister
or directly to Parliament. In our reports, we
can make recommendations to improve
processes and to address complaints about
individuals.

Our accountabilities

• against the law

2

Where people approach us, but their
complaint does not involve a public
authority, administrative actions or meet
our jurisdiction to investigate, we help them
access the right agency or avenue for their
complaint.

COLLABORATION

• the formulation of a proposal or an
intention

• wrong.

ACCOUNTABILITY

We can investigate the following actions2:

• about a decision that was made but
the reasons for the decision were not
given or they were based on a mistake
of law or fact

OUR
WORK FAIRNESS

We can also investigate administrative
actions taken by or in a body that is not
an authority, but which has been given
functions or instructions by an authority.
We also have the function to enquire into
or investigate whether an administrative
action is compatible with the Charter of
Human Rights and to investigate protected
disclosure complaints.

ABOUT
FOREWORD THE VO

• local council
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Our work
Our work is better targeted and more
efficient for Victorians:
• the number of approaches that we
could help with was up 6%
• we closed (completed) 3,256
approaches through enquiries and
investigations – over 500 more than
last year
• our redirection services have worked
well, helping people find the right
agency to complain to
• we are spending more time on
matters we can help with.
Our work falls into three main categories:
1. enquiries and investigations generated
by complaints
2. own motion enquiries and investigations
3. investigation of protected disclosure
complaints.
Enquiries and investigations may also be
prompted by our functions in relation to the
Charter of Human Rights.

1. Enquiries and investigations
generated by complaints
We collect data on:
• the total number of approaches made
to our office
• the number of approaches closed in a
12-month period.

Approaches
This year, the total number of approaches
made to our office was 38,980. This is an
increase from last year, and continues a fiveyear upwards trend.
‘Approaches’ covers all complaints, whether
or not they are within our jurisdiction, as
well as requests for information. We receive
approaches via phone, email, our online
complaint form, letter, in person and fax.
Over the last 18 months, we have introduced
redirection services to make it easier
for people to find the right agency for
their complaint. We made these changes
because we know that many people contact
us because they do not know which agency
to complain to.
In November 2013 we introduced a
redirection service for phone callers and
in December 2013 redirection options for
visitors to our website. If we cannot help
with a complaint because the agency
concerned is not within our jurisdiction,
these services automatically redirect people
to the right complaint handling agency.
This year was the first full year both these
services have been in place.

10
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Figure 2: Number of approaches received 2010-15
Approaches that were redirected from our website to the right complaint handling body

All other approaches

OUR
WORK FAIRNESS

Approaches that were redirected by phone to the right complaint handling body

38,980
5,377

8,916

11,874

29,773

30,517

25,458

21,729

2010-11

2011-12

2012-13

2013-14*

2014-15**

COLLABORATION

25,557

ACCOUNTABILITY

34,374

*Seven months of telephone auto-transfer.
** Data about web auto-transfer available for 2014-15 only.

HUMAN
RIGHTS

Our redirection services not only save staff
time but mean people are connected to
the right agency for their complaint more
quickly.

OUR
PERFORMANCE

As shown in Figure 3, as soon as we
introduced our redirection services, the
number of non-jurisdictional approaches
that needed to be handled by an officer
dropped by more than half.
Figure 3: Impact of redirection services 2013-15
1,800

Telephone redirection introduced

1,400
1,200
1,000

Website redirection introduced

800

STATUTORY
FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURES STATEMENTS

Number of non-jurisdictional approaches

OUR
ORGANISATION
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Figure 4: Jurisdictional and non-jurisdictional approaches received and handled by an
officer 2013-15

Jurisdictional

2014-15

2013-14

14,004

13,230

As shown in Figure 4, of the approaches
that required handling by an officer, there
was a six per cent increase about agencies
within our jurisdiction on the previous year.
This means our time is increasingly spent
on matters we can assist with, though there
is still a commitment to respond to those
outside our jurisdiction and advise people of
the best course of action.
We are now looking at other ways to ensure
Victorians can navigate this landscape and
make complaints to the right agency.

Non-jurisdictional

7,725

12,228

How we received approaches
Consistent with previous years, most people
contacted us by phone, as shown in Figure 5.
We received:
• 74 per cent of approaches by phone
• 12 per cent by email (a slight increase
of four per cent from last year)
• eight per cent online (down slightly
from 10 per cent last year)
• five per cent by letter and fax.
In cases where a matter appears to be
within our jurisdiction but has come in by
phone, under the Ombudsman Act we
must advise people to set out the details in
writing. This additional step may discourage
complainants from lodging their concerns
with us, and as a result, poor administrative
actions may go unchallenged.
We are aware of 667 cases this year where
we were contacted but a subsequent
complaint was not received. We have put
a case for change to this legislation to the
Victorian Government.

12
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A complainant suffering from a
number of physical disabilities, which
made it difficult to write, applied to
increase his subsidised taxi travel. He
complained to us because the Taxi
Services Commission insisted he could
only apply by filling out a form.

A prisoner in a Victorian jail contacted
us asking why he had been denied
permission to attend his mother’s
funeral. His brother, also held at
the same prison, had been granted
permission.

OUR
WORK FAIRNESS

Case study: lost paperwork

ABOUT
FOREWORD THE VO

Case study: improving accessibility

A manager from the Commission
called the complainant and he
was able to provide the necessary
information over the phone, so his
application could be progressed.

ACCOUNTABILITY

After we asked that a member of
staff at the prison explain to the
complainant why he couldn’t attend,
the prison advised that paperwork
from the prisoner requesting
permission to attend the funeral had
been lost.

We contacted the Commission to see
whether there were other options for
it to obtain the information it needed.

COLLABORATION

The prison advised that they would
prioritise the prisoner’s request and
that unless security issues were
raised, he would be able to attend his
mother’s funeral.

Figure 5: How people approached us in 2014–15

HUMAN
RIGHTS

Website auto-transfer 5,377

OUR
ORGANISATION

Telephone 16,017

Letter 1,140

Fax 41

STATUTORY
FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURES STATEMENTS

In person 217

Email 2,588

Telephone auto-transfer 11,874
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OUR
PERFORMANCE

Online 1,726
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Approaches closed

Case study: timeliness

This year, we closed 21,587 approaches3.
Of these, we closed 3,256 (compared to
2,742 in 2013-14) through enquiries and
investigations with departments and
agencies, an increase of over 500 on last
year. The rest were closed by providing
advice and where appropriate, referring the
complainant to the agency concerned or
suggesting another avenue.

A student at a university had a
complicated situation involving fees
she had paid, a university that said she
hadn’t paid the fees, and an unpaid
tax assessment that was gathering
interest.

As shown in Figure 6, the proportion
of approaches we closed within our
jurisdiction (matters we could deal with)
increased by 12 per cent from 2013-14, which
shows a more efficient use of our time.

3

This excludes auto-redirected approaches.

We made enquiries in this very
complex matter and found that the
student had made errors in how
she had handled it, but so had the
university.
Through open dialogue and reflecting
on the positions of both the student
and the university, we arrived at a
resolution where the student got
some recompense that took account
of the shared responsibility.

Figure 6: Number of approaches closed 2013-14 and 2014-15

2013–14

2014–15

Matters we could deal with – 13,152

Matters we could deal with – 13,864

Matters we could not deal with – 11,763

Matters we could not deal with – 7,389

Requests for information – 485

Requests for information – 334

2%

2%

46%

14

52%
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34%

64%

2013-14 (number) 2013-14 (per cent)

2014-15 (number) 2014-15 (per cent)

69.1%

13,196

61.1%

1 to 7 days

3,993

15.7%

3,846

17.8%

8 to 30 days

2,761

10.9%

2,819

13.1%

1 to 3 months

857

3.4%

1,352

6.3%

3 to 6 months

177

0.7%

310

1.4%

After 6 months

53

0.2%

64

0.3%

Total

25,400

100%

21,587

100%

OUR
PERFORMANCE

17,559

HUMAN
RIGHTS

On day received

COLLABORATION

Table 1: Time taken to close all approaches 2014-15

ACCOUNTABILITY

2013-14 was the first full year that IBAC
was in operation. There was a large number
of whistleblower cases and a significant
spike in protected disclosure complaints
referred by IBAC, which we were required
to investigate. This year, the protected
disclosure regime is better understood, and
there have been fewer disclosures assessed
as requiring investigation.

Table 1 shows the time we took to close
all approaches in 2014-15. Consistent with
spending more time on cases we can help
with, the data shows that we are taking
slightly longer to close cases. As mentioned
earlier, more approaches have been closed
by enquiries and investigations. Just under
80 per cent are finalised within a week.

OUR
WORK FAIRNESS

Every year is different in the number and
scale of investigations undertaken.

This year, our two major own motion
investigations, into prisons and abuse in the
disability sector, had a significant impact on
resources. These landmark investigations
took more than half of the resources in
our Strategic Investigations area, which
meant less capacity to work on other
investigations.

ABOUT
FOREWORD THE VO

This year we started 37 investigations and
completed 34 – these included major own
motion investigations, protected disclosures
referred by the Independent Broad-based
Anti-corruption Commission (IBAC), as
well as some complaints that were more
complex and required more time.

OUR
ORGANISATION
STATUTORY
FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURES STATEMENTS
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Case study: navigating the system

Case study: a thorough process

A prisoner was examined by
a podiatrist and had been
recommended orthotic inserts and
custom orthotic shoes almost six
months prior to writing to us. He told
us that Corrections Victoria had been
aware of this request, but had refused
to purchase the shoes for him.

A person contacted us about a port
authority’s decision to increase its
annual fees. He raised concerns about
the reasons the authority had given
for the increase, and its lack of clarity
about whether the fees would keep
rising. He also complained that the
authority had not been responsive to
other complaints he had made about
wasting key resources.

We made enquiries with various
agencies to determine which one
was responsible, establishing that
the State Wide Equipment Program,
a division of Ballarat Health funded
by the Department of Health and
Human Services, was to provide the
inserts and shoes. We confirmed that
the complainant was on the waiting
list but funding had not yet been
allocated, and that people can be on
the waiting list for up to 12 months.
We closed the case after a month and
one week. The complainant wrote
to us shortly after we sent him our
outcome letter to tell us his concerns
were now resolved.
Each complaint is different, and our
enquiries differ greatly in length, complexity
and detail. One enquiry may involve
several interactions with an agency and
the complainant as well as reviewing many
documents, while another may involve
making a single phone call to resolve a
complaint.

We first needed to establish that
we had jurisdiction to consider the
complaint. Legal advice concluded
that we did, so we made enquiries.
We received extensive and detailed
information from the authority about
the reasons for the fee increase, as
well as copies of its responses to the
complainant and useful background
information to its decisions.
We concluded that there appeared
to be a reasonable basis for the fee
increase and that the authority had
taken appropriate action in responding
to the complainant. This enquiry took
just under five months to resolve.

2. Own motion enquiries and
investigations
Under the Ombudsman Act, we have
powers to look into administrative actions
under our own motion; that is, without
receiving a complaint.
An own motion enquiry or investigation
starts when we consider a particular issue is
in the public interest or is systemic. We also
use this power when an approach requires
an urgent response, and we cannot wait for
a complaint in writing (as required under
our Act).
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We received a call from a prisoner
saying he had been in a management
unit4 for three weeks and his property
had been confiscated. He complained
that he had no clean clothes and
had been in the same clothes and
underwear for the three weeks.

A client of State Trustees contacted
us, concerned that she had not had
a response from State Trustees two
weeks after requesting access to
funds. The client had not had any hot
water for over two weeks, and needed
the money for a new hot water
system.

We made own motion enquiries
and as a result, the prison found the
prisoner’s property. It determined
that he did not have enough clothing
to last him for another week, so it
contacted the Salvation Army to
obtain more. We were able to close
this approach in one day.

OUR
WORK FAIRNESS

Case study: out of hot water

ABOUT
FOREWORD THE VO

Case study: clean result

ACCOUNTABILITY

We made own motion enquiries with
State Trustees to assess whether it
was able to take any action to resolve
this issue.

Examples of our own motion investigations
include:

COLLABORATION

State Trustees were unable to loan
the money but it was able to engage
a plumber to install a new service.
It assisted its client to get access to
money to cover the costs of the new
service.

• investigation into how allegations of
abuse are handled in the disability
sector (refer to page 45)

HUMAN
RIGHTS

To avoid putting its client under
additional financial stress, State
Trustees also arranged a payment
plan to ensure that her savings were
re-built and daily living expenses
would be available.

• the alleged excessive force used by
authorised officers on Melbourne public
transport (refer to page 42)

OUR
PERFORMANCE

• how local councils managed complaints
(refer to page 41).
Table 2: Use of own motion powers 2014-15
Closed own motion
investigations (s16A)*

Closed own motion
cases**

Total

14

4

997

1,015

* Instigated by us, without receiving a complaint.
** Cases where we received a complaint, including urgent matters where we could not wait for the complaint to be put to us in writing.

STATUTORY
FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURES STATEMENTS

4

OUR
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Closed own motion
enquiries (s13A)*

Prisoners are usually only housed in a management unit
for disciplinary issues or for short-term protection if there
is no room in a protection unit.
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3. Protected disclosure
complaints

Table 3 outlines action taken on protected
disclosure complaints.

Our office plays a role in assessing and
managing protected disclosure complaints.
This includes:

We dismissed five disclosures for reasons
including that the disclosure:

• receiving disclosures directly about
people and agencies within our
jurisdiction, as well as disclosures about
local government councillors and other
entities5
• notifying IBAC if the Ombudsman
considers that we have received an
assessable disclosure6.

• was known by the discloser for over
12 months
• was frivolous, vexatious or untrue
• had been appropriately investigated
by another relevant agency
• was about a person or agency
outside our jurisdiction or authority to
investigate under the Ombudsman Act.

When a protected disclosure has been
referred to us by IBAC, we determine
whether the disclosure warrants
investigation under the provisions of the
Ombudsman Act and, where appropriate,
investigate.
Table 3: Action on protected disclosure complaints 2014-15
Category

Number of complaints

Number of assessable disclosures notified to IBAC

68

Number of protected disclosure complaints referred by IBAC

26

Number of protected disclosures investigated by Ombudsman

21

Number of disclosures dismissed

5

Number of applications for an injunction made by Ombudsman

0

5

Ombudsman Act 1973 section 2.

6

An ‘assessable disclosure’ is a disclosure that we think
may be a protected disclosure. We notify IBAC, so it can
assess whether it is a protected disclosure.
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Lucky the dog had bitten a two-yearold child and was deemed dangerous
and destroyed by the local council.
The complainant was unhappy with
the speed with which the council
assessed Lucky as dangerous
and believed they were forced to
surrender Lucky or face prosecution.
As a result of our enquiries, the council
reviewed their procedures around
the investigation of dog attacks and
implemented a 48-hour ‘cooling off
period’ following the surrender of an
animal before it is destroyed.

ACCOUNTABILITY
COLLABORATION

This year, of the approaches closed that
were within our jurisdiction, the greatest
number related to the Corrections, Justice
and Regulation portfolio – over 30 per
cent of our finalised approaches. Local
government represented over 24 per cent,
followed by Health and Human Services7
with just over 15 per cent.

Case study: changing local
government practices

OUR
WORK FAIRNESS

Our office has jurisdiction to take
complaints about more than 1,000 state
government agencies and local councils.
As these agencies cover a wide range of
issues and responsibilities, we group them
into portfolios. This also helps us identify
systemic issues.

ABOUT
FOREWORD THE VO

What people approached us
about

HUMAN
RIGHTS
OUR
PERFORMANCE
OUR
ORGANISATION
STATUTORY
FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURES STATEMENTS

7

This is the combined number of complaints from the previous
portfolios of Health, Human Services and the current
portfolio of Health and Human Services, due to machinery of
government changes to department structures.
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Changes made by the incoming government
effective 1 January 2015 meant that some
departments changed composition, merged
or changed their jurisdiction.

To reflect these changes and to accurately
present our data, we have split our portfolio
information into two halves of the financial
year.

Figure 7: Closed jurisdictional approaches by portfolio Jul–Dec 2014
(before machinery of government changes)
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Figure 8: Closed jurisdictional approaches by portfolio Jan–Jun 2015
(after machinery of government changes)
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FOI
& Finance Land, Water & Cabinet Commissioner
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2. failure to appropriately manage the
health needs of persons in custody
3. assistance to families and children
4. delays in complaint handling
5. inadequate solutions to complaints

7. quality of service delivery by
departments and authorities
8. drawing the wrong conclusion to resolve
a complaint

10. management of property in custodial
services.

We advised the complainant that on
the basis of this evidence, we were
satisfied that WorkSafe had taken
appropriate action in response to
his complaint. However, if WorkSafe
had communicated better with the
complainant about its investigation and
outcomes, he may not have felt the
need to escalate his complaint to us.

COLLABORATION

9. unreasonable enforcement of regulation
by local government

We made enquiries with WorkSafe. It
provided evidence to show that it had
investigated the concerns, including
conducting an inspection on the
same day it received the complaint.
They had formed a view that remedial
action was not required.

ACCOUNTABILITY

6. inadequate processes for handling
complaints

A complainant alleged that WorkSafe
had failed to investigate his concerns
about occupational health and safety
in a theatre he had recently performed
in. He complained about a stage
having exposed steel framework and
incomplete electrical wiring, the ‘exit’
signs not working and other hazards.

OUR
WORK FAIRNESS

1. failure of a department or authority to
act or provide a service

Case study: improving communication
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The 10 most frequently complained about
issues across all portfolios this year were:
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Corrections,
Justice and
Regulation
portfolio
This portfolio relates to complaints about:
• Corrections Victoria: the overarching
body responsible for managing
Victoria’s prisons and correctional
facilities
• Department of Justice and Regulation
(formerly the Department of Justice)
• Justice Health: responsible for
delivering health services in Victoria’s
public prisons
• Civic Compliance Victoria
• the Sheriff’s Office
• Victorian Commission for Gambling
and Liquor Regulation.
This portfolio is the subject of more
complaints than any other, largely as a
result of dedicated, free call lines in prisons,
and high levels of awareness of our work in
prisons.

Case study: hygiene in prison
A prisoner in a Victorian jail rang to
complain about a lack of washing
facilities in their unit. Prisoners were
being forced to wash underwear in
the same showers and sinks they used
to brush their teeth and fill kettles.
We made enquiries, questioning
whether this practice was consistent
with section 22 of the Charter of
Human Rights, which refers to the
right to humane treatment while
deprived of liberty.
As a result, the prison confirmed
that it would be allocating resources
to manage the personal laundry of
prisoners in the unit.

Figure 9: Closed jurisdictional approaches for Corrections, Justice and Regulation 2010-15
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We finalised 561 approaches regarding Civic
Compliance Victoria and the Sheriff’s Office,
13 per cent of the total approaches in this
portfolio.

Table 4: Most common reasons for complaint in Corrections, Justice and Regulation portfolio 2014-15
Number of complaints
627

Prisoner property

316

Prisoner placement and location

219

Prisoner buildings and facilities

194

Prisoner management and security

164

Delays in handling complaints about prison matters

159

Prisoner visits

157

Prisoner telephone/access services

139
121

Fines or charges by road traffic authorities

111

HUMAN
RIGHTS

Prisoner funds

COLLABORATION

Prisoner health services

ACCOUNTABILITY

Issue

OUR
WORK FAIRNESS

Our work in this portfolio ranged from
addressing the complaints of individual
prisoners to investigating systemic issues.

ABOUT
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Of the 4,269 approaches we resolved about
Corrections, Justice and Regulation this
year, 68 per cent involved prison matters.
This was a seven per cent drop on last year
(75 per cent for prison matters); however,
prison issues still made up nine of the 10
most common reasons for complaints in this
portfolio.
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Investigation into the rehabilitation
and reintegration of prisoners
On 14 July 2014, we announced an
investigation into the rehabilitation
and reintegration of prisoners in
Victoria. This was prompted by the
growth in prisoner numbers, and
concerns with rates of reoffending
and its impact on the Victorian
community, in terms of both public
safety and cost.
The welfare of those in closed
environments, including prisons,
has been a focus of this office since
its inception. What had not been
previously considered, however,
is whether the corrections system
ensures that prisoners receive
rehabilitation and post-release
support to prevent further offending,
with its attendant cost and risk to the
community. With the strain on prison
resources, the question of whether
the system is working to reduce
re-offending becomes even more
important.
Of particular concern was the
position of women and Indigenous
prisoners. A common observation
is that when systems come under
stress, these groups seem to bear
a disproportionate amount of the
burden. We wanted to look not only at
the system, but how it was working in
practice.
On 29 October 2014, we released a
discussion paper outlining the issues
emerging in the investigation and
calling for submissions. We received
34 submissions from current and
former prisoners, advocacy groups,
professional and community service
organisations and academics.

24
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In these submissions, we heard strong
endorsement for the position put in
our discussion paper that the growth
in Victoria’s prison population is
having a significant impact on the
rehabilitation and reintegration of
prisoners.
Although an extensive building
program has been underway to
increase bed capacity across the
prison system, the expansion in
prisoner numbers has resulted in
backlogs in assessment, and affected
the availability of programs and
support, both before and after release.
It is also apparent that reforms to the
parole system are having an effect.
It is now harder to obtain parole, so
more prisoners are leaving without
it at the end of their full sentences,
and therefore without the monitoring
and reporting requirements that
parole would impose. Nor will they
necessarily have attended programs
designed to reduce offending
behaviour – often one of the
requirements for parole.
Our investigation was conducted in
2014-15, with the report to be tabled in
the second half of 2015.

ABOUT
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Local government
portfolio

Council staff offered to put the
legal action on hold if the resident
contacted them, and said they would
negotiate a payment plan to assist her.
The number of complaints about local
government has remained relatively
constant over the last five years. In
2014-15, we closed 3,410 jurisdictional
approaches about local government:
almost 25 per cent of all jurisdictional
approaches finalised.

OUR
ORGANISATION

The council noted our concerns
and agreed to conduct a review of
the signs. Early in 2015, the council
commenced work to change all
signs in the municipality with a new,
clearer sign.

When we made enquiries with the
council, staff said they had tried
to contact the resident to discuss
payment options, but had not
received any response. Because she
did not make contact with them, they
escalated the matter.

OUR
PERFORMANCE

We made enquiries with the council,
and raised concerns about the clarity
of the signs and the complexity of the
restrictions.

The financial advisor said that the
council would not deal with him
because the matter was now in a
‘legal action phase’.

HUMAN
RIGHTS

We considered the clarity of the signs
and whether it was reasonable to
expect an ordinary person to be able
to correctly interpret the applicable
restrictions.

A financial advisor contacted us
on behalf of his client, who was in
financial hardship. The client had
received a notice from her local
council that legal action would start
in seven days to collect outstanding
rates.

COLLABORATION

After receiving a parking fine, a driver
complained that the infringement
was unfair because the council’s
signs were confusing and unclear.
He complained to the council and
received an explanation of the parking
restrictions, but was not satisfied
that the signs clearly conveyed these
restrictions.

Case study: making contact

ACCOUNTABILITY

Case study: what is reasonable?

OUR
WORK FAIRNESS

Local government generated a high number
of complaints to us; as in previous years, it
was second only to Corrections, Justice and
Regulation. This is understandable, given
it is the tier of government many in the
community interact with the most.

STATUTORY
FINANCIAL
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Table 5: Common areas of complaint about local government
Issue

Number of complaints

Unreasonable enforcement of parking regulations

363

Providing an inadequate remedy to address a complaint

280

Delay in complaint handling

221

Inadequate processes for complaint handling

185

Matters concerning the use of roads or streets

117

Case study: time taken to act
We received a complaint from a
resident about the condition of a
public road between his home and
farm, which he said was unusable in
wet conditions and most of winter.

• enforcement and regulatory activities
in areas such as building, planning and
animals

He said he had tried to resolve
his concerns with his local council
for over 12 months, but despite
assurances that the council would
repair the road, it remained unusable.

• facilities owned or controlled by
councils.

We made enquiries with the council
to establish its obligations to maintain
the road and what it had done to
resolve the complaint.
The council said that the developers
of a nearby site and a water company
had caused the damage to the
road and it was Council’s view that
they were responsible for repairing
the damage. However, the council
acknowledged that attempts to have
these parties repair the road had been
unsuccessful.
The council agreed to do further
works on the road and meet with the
complainant to ensure that the issues
were resolved.

26

Other common areas of complaint were:
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• rubbish and recycling collection
services

Case study: double payment
A council had deducted a payment
plan instalment from a complainant’s
bank account twice. The council told
her it wouldn’t process the refund until
it had a number of similar requests, so
its finance department could process
them all at once.
The complainant told us she was a
single mother on a pension and now
had only $14 left in her bank account.
We made own motion enquiries and
the council agreed to issue a cheque
that day and to speak to its bank to
speed up its clearance.

This may in part be due to differences in
population, services provided and how
complaints are monitored.

We received another 44 approaches where
the complainant did not name the council
they were complaining about.

Figure 10: Closed jurisdictional approaches for local government 2010-15
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Table 6 overleaf lists the number of
approaches we closed about each council. It
is important to note that not all complaints
were substantiated.
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All 79 Victorian councils were subject to at
least one complaint this year, however the
number of complaints varied widely across
municipalities.
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Table 6: Closed jurisdictional approaches for Victoria’s 79 local councils*
Local council

Total

Melbourne City Council
Yarra Ranges Shire Council

149

Map no. Local council

Total Map no.

63

Maroondah City Council

30

79

131

15

Moorabool Shire Council

29

34

130

27

Macedon Ranges Shire Council

27

23

Port Phillip City Council

118

67

Wellington Shire Council

25

6

Whittlesea City Council

115

25

Golden Plains Shire Council

25

45

Moreland City Council

114

64

Wangaratta Rural City Council

24

7

Brimbank City Council

107

59

Baw Baw Shire Council

24

10

Greater Geelong City Council

102

31

Colac-Otway Shire Council

23

47

Banyule City Council

95

72

Surf Coast Shire Council

21

46

Hume City Council

91

24

Greater Shepparton City Council

21

18

Kingston City Council

91

76

Mount Alexander Shire Council

21

36

Moonee Valley City Council

81

60

Northern Grampians Shire Council

20

42

Maribyrnong City Council

78

61

Mildura Rural City Council

19

55

Yarra City Council

78

66

Wodonga City Council

18

3

Mornington Peninsula Shire Council

77

29

Moyne Shire Council

17

50

Melton City Council

75

33

Loddon Shire Council

14

38

Darebin City Council

75

65

Campaspe Shire Council

12

20

Whitehorse City Council

72

74

Pyrenees Shire Council

11

43

Boroondara City Council

71

71

Buloke Shire Council

11

41

Frankston City Council

64

28

Indigo Shire Council

11

4

Latrobe City Council

62

11

10

40

Glen Eira City Council

57

69

Hindmarsh Shire Council

9

56

Bayside City Council

57

68

Warrnambool City Council

9

49

Cardinia Shire Council

56

14

Glenelg Shire Council

8

58

Monash City Council

55

75

Mansfield Shire Council

8

9

Wyndham City Council

52

32

Towong Shire Council

8

2

Knox City Council

50

78

Strathbogie Shire Council

8

17

Greater Bendigo City Council

50

21

Queenscliffe (Borough of)

8

30

Stonnington City Council

49

70

Southern Grampians Shire Council

7

52

South Gippsland Shire Council

49

12

Ararat Rural City Council

7

51

Hobsons Bay City Council

48

62

Alpine Shire Council

7

5

Greater Dandenong City Council

48

77

Corangamite Shire Council

5

48

Manningham City Council

47

73

Gannawarra Shire Council

4

39

Nillumbik Shire Council

40

26

Central Goldfields Shire Council

4

37

Mitchell Shire Council

38

22

West Wimmera Shire Council

4

57

Ballarat City Council

38

44

Benalla Rural City Council

4

8

East Gippsland Shire Council

38

1

Murrindindi Shire Council

3

16

Bass Coast Shire Council

37

13

Yarriambiack Shire Council

2

54

Moira Shire Council

31

19

Horsham Rural City Council

2

53

30

35

Casey City Council

Hepburn Shire Council
* Not all complaints were substantiated.
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Swan Hill Rural Council
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Figure 11: Complaints about local councils 2014-15
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We worked in collaboration with all 79
Victorian councils to publish Councils and
complaints – A good practice guide in
February 2015. The guide helps councils
improve their complaint handling in the
first instance and may reduce the need
for people to contact our office. For more
information on the guide, refer to page 41.

Case study: explaining decisions
A complainant was dissatisfied that
his local council had directed him
to leave his rubbish bins out for
collection in a marked area outside his
neighbour’s house – 15 metres from
his property.
He provided a copy of the response
he had received from the council’s
Chief Executive Officer, which
explained that the change in the
collection location was to ensure
safety and minimise the need for
collection trucks to reverse. Council
officers had also met with the
complainant to discuss the matter
with him.
We advised the complainant that
we considered that the council
had explained the reasons for its
decision, which had been made in
the interests of public safety and
following consultation with truck
drivers. We concluded this decision
was open to the council to make, and
it had adequately responded to the
complainant.
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Health and Human
Services portfolio
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Case study: change without notice
A kinship carer complained that her
payments, which helped her to care
for her four grandchildren, were
reduced without notice. There were
also delays in the Department of
Human Services reimbursing her for
other costs.

ACCOUNTABILITY

The department was in the process
of reviewing the matter. We made
enquiries to clarify the status of the
review and when the complainant
could expect a decision.

COLLABORATION

The Health and Human Services portfolio
ranked third for the number of closed
approaches. Prior to January 2015, Health
and Human Services were separate
portfolios. Human Services alone had ranked
third for five consecutive years, but was
trending downwards. The amalgamation of
these two departments in January means
this year’s data is not comparable with
previous years. To make some assessment
of trend for this new portfolio, we have
combined approaches closed about both
the Departments of Health and Human
Services from the previous four years.

HUMAN
RIGHTS

In response, the department
reinstated the higher rate of
kinship carer payments, backdating
them to the date they had been
incorrectly changed, and provided
reimbursement for other agreed costs.

Figure 12: Closed jurisdictional approaches for Health and Human Services 2010-15
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The most common complaints about Health
and Human Services were about service
delivery and complaint handling, including:
• failure to act or provide a requested
service
• quality of service delivery
• inadequate remedy in response to a
complaint
• inadequate complaint handling
processes
• delays in complaint handling.
Issues in this portfolio covered a wide range
of concerns, as shown in the case studies
below.

Case study: using powers of
discretion
A complainant contacted us with
concerns about fleas, spiders and
ants infesting his Office of Housing
residence. The pests were particularly
concerning him as there were three
young children living at the residence.
The complainant said he had made
a number of complaints to the
department and the problem had
been going on for over 18 months.
The Office of Housing had declined to
arrange pest control services, as it was
not considered a maintenance issue
and tenants were responsible for any
pest control measures.
We made enquiries with the
department about the decision
not to fumigate the residence.
The department repeated to us
that this was something tenants
were responsible for. However, the
department did have discretionary
decision making options. After our
enquiries, they agreed to fumigate the
residence.
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Case study: understanding
responsibilities
A complainant wanted to repatriate
his father’s ashes to Italy, his home
country. In order to do this, he needed
a certificate from the Cemeteries and
Crematoria Unit of the Department
of Health and Human Services. A
certificate is issued if the department
has no objection to the removal of the
remains from Victoria, and the remains
do not harbour a serious disease.
The complainant and his brother
signed a Terms of Settlement. They
agreed that the complainant would
be responsible for taking the ashes
back to Italy. However, the brother
later changed his mind, and when
contacted by the Cemeteries and
Crematoria Unit as it prepared the
certificate, advised it that he objected
to the repatriation. The Unit declined
to provide the certificate on this basis.
The complainant argued that the
purpose of the certificate was not to
certify if there were any objections at
all, but rather that the department did
not object.
We made enquiries with the
department, but were not satisfied
with the response. We met with
department staff to discuss the matter
further. Following this, the department
agreed to seek legal advice, and
as a result wrote to both brothers
advising of its intention to issue the
repatriation certificate.
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How we deliver
Under our Strategic Framework 2014–17, we have four principles that guide our work.

OUR
WORK FAIRNESS

Figure 13: Principles from our Strategic Framework 2014-17
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Providing independent
and impartial complaint
resolution
Encouraging fair and
reasonable decision making
within the public sector

Modelling transparency
and openness
Conducting independent
investigations into the
most serious matters

ACCOUNTABILITY

FAIRNESS

COLLABORATION

Ensuring
fairness and
improving
public
administration

Ensuring human rights are
respected

Sharing lessons learnt
from complaints and
investigations

The following sections provide examples
of how we have delivered our objectives
according to these principles.

Investigating systemic issues
and identifying solutions
Our enquiries and investigations resulted in
a range of positive outcomes, from solutions
to local problems, to state-wide changes.

OUR
ORGANISATION

Making it easier for
vulnerable people to
complain

OUR
PERFORMANCE

COLLABORATION

HUMAN
RIGHTS

HUMAN RIGHTS

STATUTORY
FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURES STATEMENTS
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Fairness
Historically, an Ombudsman’s work is about
rebalancing power between the individual
and the state. Ensuring fairness for people
in their dealings with the public sector is
core to our work. Supporting vulnerable
Victorians is a particular focus of ours.
Fairness comes in a variety of forms and in
this section we set out a few examples.
In April 2015, we tabled a report into the
former Department of Health’s oversight
of a Supported Residential Service in
Melbourne, Mentone Gardens. The report
looked at the plight of a number of
aged people who had put their trust in
government regulation.
Our investigation uncovered a litany of
failings by the department over an extended
period of time. As a consequence, the
residents, many of them already frail, lost
their dignity, their independence and their
peace of mind.

Report: Mentone Gardens
‘Where is the fairness? Why do the
elderly need to fight so desperately
for the return of their life savings
when such an injustice is done?’
Granddaughter of former Mentone
Gardens resident
Across Victoria, 143 Supported
Residential Services (SRS) care
for more than 5,000 frail elderly
people, and people with disability or
illness. SRS are private businesses,
registered and regulated by the
Department of Health and Human
Services (previously the Department
of Health).

As the sector’s regulator, the
department registered Mentone
Gardens and was responsible for
monitoring:
• the standard of care received by
residents
• the financial capacity of the
company operating the facility
• considering and responding to
complaints from service users and
their families.
When Mentone Gardens went into
liquidation in September 2013,
residents and families learned that
they had lost more than $4.5 million
in bonds and deposits.
Residents claimed they were owed
between $50,000 and $250,000,
with one couple owed $400,000.
Many of the residents had sold their
homes to pay for their care, but the
impact of their loss was more than
monetary.
‘Since being advised that her life
savings are no longer, she has been
forced to move to another facility
and suffers the indignity each day
that she is now fully dependent on
other people’s money … she is 96
years of age and dreads waking
each day as she resents being what
she considers to be a burden on
society.’
Granddaughter of former resident
For their families, the bureaucratic
stonewalling of departmental
representatives exacerbated the loss.
‘We got nowhere. We’d go through
every department and we’d just get
pushed around.’
Former resident
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• the Victorian Government make ex
gratia payments to affected people
or their estates by 30 June 2015
• the Victorian Government amend
legislation to require proprietors of
SRS to be audited by an
independent auditor

OUR
ORGANISATION

• the Department of Health and
Human Services strengthen its
procedures regulating SRS
• the Department of Health and
Human Services carry out
enforcement action when required.

STATUTORY
FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURES STATEMENTS

The department did not use its
enforcement powers because of a
long-standing view that financial
matters were not its responsibility.
However, this stance contradicted
previous actions by the department
evidenced in public records. These
records showed that the department
had previously prosecuted at least
one SRS for financial impropriety.

On 15 April 2015, we tabled our report
in Parliament. The recommendations
addressed the systemic failing, as well
as redress for the former residents,
including:

The Victorian Government and
the department accepted all the
recommendations in principle.
We requested a response to the
recommendations by 1 May 2015.
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OUR
PERFORMANCE

Our investigation revealed that
the department failed to monitor
and regulate Mentone Gardens in a
number of respects, and did not see
financial oversight as its responsibility.

Son of former resident

HUMAN
RIGHTS

We uncovered a long list of failings
by the department over an extended
period. Despite having no proper
financial records for its entire 25year operation, numerous complaints
about both the care of residents and
financial management, as well as two
prosecutions by the department,
Mentone Gardens had its registration
renewed 11 times.

‘My father lived a frugal and happy
life but the news of the loss of his
Mentone Gardens deposit disturbed
and confused him over his last few
months. He deserved a far more
peaceful ending to his life.’

COLLABORATION

We found that the director of Mentone
Gardens had repeatedly assured
residents and families that their bonds
were refundable and held in trust.
This was not true. The liquidator was
clear: the money had disappeared,
the insolvency having been caused by
‘misappropriation of funds’.

Authorised officers responsible for
compliance reviews did not have
the skills or qualifications to analyse
trust accounting until the department
organised training in 2014. The
department knew its officers would
be required to fulfil this function
from July 2012, and had notice of the
function since 2010.

ACCOUNTABILITY

A former resident complained to
us and after our initial enquiries
raised serious concerns about the
department’s oversight, we launched
an investigation in September 2014. A
further 17 former residents and family
members came forward with similar
complaints.

It did not have a consolidated suite
of policies and procedures for
compliance and enforcement, and
lacked rigorous processes to identify
issues in SRS.

OUR
WORK FAIRNESS

Son-in-law of former resident

ABOUT
FOREWORD THE VO

‘I can scarcely describe the tumult
which has been caused to my 101
year old mother-in-law by this
matter and by the subsequent lack
of acknowledgement or acceptance
of departmental failings.’
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On 1 May 2015, the department
advised my office that it was
preparing specifications for an ex
gratia payment scheme. It said it
would write to former residents or
their representatives with a view to
making payments by 30 June 2015.

In Mentone Gardens, the unfairness was
the result of the department’s failure to
properly act. In other cases, a decision
may be unfair if a law or by-law is strictly
applied, without considering the unique
circumstances of a situation.

Case study: encouraging discretion
A homeless person with a learning
disability had driven a friend, who
also had a disability, to a conference
at a local church. He parked in a
designated disabled parking bay,
displaying a valid permit.
Image: The Ombudsman Deborah Glass
presenting our report to former residents
of Mentone Gardens and their families.

The driver knew he needed to move
the car after two hours, which he
did. However, a trailer was blocking
the only other disabled parking bay.
He had to stay with his friend at the
conference, so he parked in a permit
zone.
While parked in the permit zone,
he received an $87 parking fine. He
asked the council twice for an internal
review of the matter. The council
declined both times because a
disabled parking permit did not allow
a person to park in a permit zone.
The council said it was acting within
the law. The driver contacted us to
see if we could help because he could
not afford to challenge the council’s
decision.
Normally, this matter would proceed
to court, but in this instance, we
contacted the council because it
wasn’t reasonable to expect this
person to take legal proceedings
when he was homeless and had a
learning disability.
The council in question had acted
within its powers: technically, the car
was parked illegally.
However, we asked the council to
reconsider its position on the fine in
light of the driver’s circumstances,
and it agreed to do so.
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In August 2014, the council had
removed a tree that bordered her
property, but left a large stump and
damage to her fence, promising to
finish the works and repair the fence
later.

Given the urgency, we called the
university to make enquiries.
Under the university’s advanced
standing procedure, a faculty is
required to send a formal outcome
letter to a student within two weeks of
receiving the application. This had not
occurred. The university’s academic
registrar found her application and
forwarded it to the relevant faculty for
urgent assessment.
The faculty approved the application
for two of the three subjects.
The registrar advised us that the
university would look at how the
application had been overlooked and
how it could improve its procedures.

OUR
ORGANISATION

A few days later, council officers
removed the stump and installed
a temporary fence to stop people
falling into the large hole left by the
stump. Shortly after that, the hole was
filled and the fence repaired.

When she complained to us, she was
concerned that if her application
was not assessed before the subject
census date of 30 March 2015 – in two
days – she would have to pay for the
subjects, even if her application was
eventually approved.

OUR
PERFORMANCE

We made enquiries with the council
to find out when it intended to
complete the work.

A month had passed since she had
made her application. The student had
followed up with the university three
times on the status of her application,
but had not received an answer.

HUMAN
RIGHTS

She had visited the council several
times to ask when the repairs would
be done, but nothing happened. She
called us in March this year, seven
months later.

A student was unhappy with a
university’s delay in assessing her
application for recognition of prior
learning for three subjects.

COLLABORATION

Because of her poor literacy, the
resident had been unable to make a
formal complaint to council in writing.

Case study: university recognition

ACCOUNTABILITY

An elderly resident, with limited
capacity to write in English, complained
to us that her council was not taking
action to finish removing a tree.

There are occasions where we need
to act quickly to avoid negative
consequences.

OUR
WORK FAIRNESS

Case study: lengthy delays

ABOUT
FOREWORD THE VO

Sometimes, our enquiries can result
in quick and positive outcomes for
people who have been dealing with
an agency for a long time without
resolution.

STATUTORY
FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURES STATEMENTS
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Accountability
The accountability of government agencies
is another theme of our work.
The public has the right to expect
transparency, fairness, value for money
and accountability within the public
sector. It is incumbent on senior executives
in government to set the example, to
establish an internal framework of effective
business practices and to foster attitudes
and a culture which adopts and supports
those principles8.
This year we have dealt with a number of
cases where this culture has been lacking.
Government procurement policies exist to
protect the public purse. Poorly managed
conflicts of interest can fundamentally
undermine the integrity of public
administration.
In August 2014, we tabled a report about
the statutory authority Office of Living
Victoria (OLV). We found that that there
was ongoing failure by OLV to comply with
government procurement policies and
conflicts of interest were poorly handled.

Report: compliance failures
We received a protected disclosure
complaint (a ‘whistleblower’
complaint) alleging improper
conduct by staff of OLV in relation
to procurement, recruitment and
contract management.
The allegations included that
contracts were ‘split’ to avoid
compliance with procurement
practice when tendering for services.

8
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Victorian Ombudsman, Investigation into allegations of
improper conduct in the Office of Living Victoria, August
2014, page 62.
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‘Contract splitting’ involves dividing
contracts into small amounts to
avoid open competition or scrutiny
by another authority. Under state
government guidelines, contracts
over $100,000 require a request for
tender plus approval.
We launched a formal investigation,
finding the standard of record
keeping so poor that it was difficult
to have confidence in the records we
reviewed.
There were numerous examples of:
• poor or completely missing
paperwork
• post-dated approvals
• cost overruns
• unsigned contracts.
We found many examples of OLV
engaging consultants through below
threshold ($99,000) contracts over a
period of time.
OLV also re-engaged consultants
without changing their scope
of work or holding a separate
selection process, denying others an
opportunity to compete for the work.
When staff sought approval to spend
more than $100,000, they avoided
having to advertise or go to market
by requesting variations on the
grounds of expediency or specialist
expertise. There was evidence
that this led not only to a lack of
fair competition, but also to direct
conflicts of interest.
In recruitment, there was little
evidence of positions being
advertised or interviews and
background checks being conducted.

• review the operation of the Staffing
Services State Purchase Contract

We referred the financial
management of OLV, including its
grants assessment and approval
process, to the Auditor-General for
audit.

Further, some VicRoads staff
placed the public at risk by
routinely breaking the speed limit in
enforcement vehicles without using
warning lights and sirens.
VicRoads’ investigation process was
shown to be seriously deficient:
• VicRoads officers were not
required to conduct an
investigation into a speeding
infringement in order to declare
an officer exempt

The culture of agencies and departments
is often a critical factor when poor
accountability and conflicts of interest
proliferate.

• VicRoads staff were relying on
irrelevant case law from the
Northern Territory about police to
justify lights or sirens not being
required.

• creating a policy and procedure
for considering infringement
exemption requests
• training for all VicRoads officers
• auditing all infringement
exemptions granted across all
offices between 2012 and 2015.

STATUTORY
FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURES STATEMENTS

The complaint related to the conduct
of officers in the Transport Safety
Services (TSS) unit of VicRoads. The
disclosure alleged that it was ‘normal
practice’ that when TSS staff received
speeding infringements while driving
VicRoads enforcement vehicles, they
were declared exempt without proper
investigations being conducted.

Our recommendations included:

OUR
ORGANISATION

In October 2014, IBAC referred a
protected disclosure complaint about
VicRoads to us for investigation.

OUR
PERFORMANCE

• VicRoads were not asking officers
any questions, including whether
lights or sirens were displayed

HUMAN
RIGHTS

While we were finalising our report,
the Victorian Government abolished
OLV and the CEO resigned.

Report: staff exemptions from fines

COLLABORATION

• consider options to ensure that all
administrative offices are obliged to
adhere to supply policies.

Our investigation highlighted a
culture of entitlement among the TSS
officers, who were breaking the very
regulations they were responsible for
upholding and enforcing. One TSS
officer told us they ‘can’t do their
jobs’ if they did not break the law.

ACCOUNTABILITY

In our final report, we made
recommendations to the Department
of Treasury and Finance and the
Victorian Government Purchasing
Board to:

We investigated the allegations –
examining infringements recorded
against VicRoads officers from one
office over a two-year period – and
found them substantiated.

OUR
WORK FAIRNESS

In response to our draft report, the
department responsible for OLV
assured us that it would address the
issues raised.

ABOUT
FOREWORD THE VO

Overall, we found that OLV failed
to respect public sector values and
be accountable for its use of public
funds.

VicRoads accepted all our
recommendations.
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Collaboration
We place a strong emphasis on working
with agencies to improve public
administration.
Complaints are one of the most valuable
sources of data available to agencies.
They represent free feedback and, if used
effectively, are a catalyst for improving
services.
Good complaint handling increases
confidence in the public sector, reducing
the need for people to look for help from an
independent authority such as ours.

Case study: explaining processes
A complainant was concerned
about information on a birth
certificate issued by the Registry
of Births, Deaths and Marriages for
the complainant’s daughter. The
complainant’s daughter had died
shortly after birth.
The complainant was dissatisfied that
the Registry had refused to remove
a notation that her daughter was
deceased from the birth certificate.
She wanted the certificate to remind
her of the birth of her daughter, not
her death.
The complainant also raised concerns
about the adequacy of the Registry’s
complaint process, particularly the
lack of relevant information on the
Registry’s website.
We made enquiries and found that
while the official birth certificate
was marked, the Registry had also
issued a commemorative certificate
of birth, which was unmarked. The
Registry informed my officers that the
commemorative certificate serves as
an official birth record, but cannot be
used for identification purposes.
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The Registry explained that it marked
birth certificates with the word
‘deceased’ to prevent fraud. Some
individuals attempt to commit fraud
by presenting a birth certificate,
and all Australian state and territory
registries agreed in 2001 to mark birth
certificates in this way.
The Registry’s computer system
automatically links a birth record and
a death record to ensure that when a
birth certificate is issued, it correctly
reflects the status of the person.
In light of this, we were satisfied that
the Registry had a valid reason for
continuing its use of the marking
practice, which is to reduce the
likelihood of fraud. The Registry
advised us that it intends to provide
information about this practice on its
website by the end of this year.
The Registry also advised that it
would update its website to address
the lack of information about making
a complaint.
We share lessons learned from our enquiries
and investigations. We also find solutions
to systemic issues, such as the differing
approaches to complaint handling among
Victoria’s local councils.

We worked with Barwon Prison on a pilot,
to help the prison identify areas that need
attention and how well they are handling
complaints.
Working with the prison and Corrections
Victoria to understand how it operates and
what data would be useful, we analysed
our data in depth, including the reasons
for complaints and the outcomes of our
enquiries. This data enabled the prison
to assess the seriousness of individual
complaints.
In addition, the prison shared some of its
data with us, further improving our insights.
We have received positive feedback on the
pilot, and in 2015-16 will expand the trial.

OUR
PERFORMANCE

We hope to offer this level of tailored data
to more agencies over time, funds and
changes to legislation permitting.

HUMAN
RIGHTS

We recommended to Parliament that
an amendment be legislated to set
a single definition of complaint. This
would create consistency and enable
better evaluation of complaints, which
councils could use to improve their
services.

This year we trialled new methods and
software to enhance the data we can report
back to government.

COLLABORATION

In researching our report, we
discovered that ‘complaint’ was
defined differently by different
councils. As a result, there were
wide variations in the response to
complaints and the data collected.

Sharing the complaint data we collect with
agencies is a valuable way to improve how
state government agencies operate.

ACCOUNTABILITY

All too often, complaints made to
councils were seen as a nuisance,
provoking a defensive, bureaucratic
or unhelpful response. From the other
side, councils were approaching us
for feedback on how their complaint
handling performance compared to
other councils.

Data sharing pilot

OUR
WORK FAIRNESS

In 2014, staff in my office identified
that one of the main causes of
complaints about local councils was
the way they dealt with complaints.
As a result, we launched an enquiry
into complaint handling in local
government.

ABOUT
FOREWORD THE VO

Report: complaint handling by
councils

OUR
ORGANISATION

We also recommended that all
councils be required to have
an internal review function for
complaints.
In conjunction with the report, we
developed a good practice guide, a
practical tool to help councils improve
their complaint handling.

STATUTORY
FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURES STATEMENTS

We surveyed all 79 Victorian councils
on their complaint handling practices
and where they wanted guidance.
We also consulted a range of people
and organisations in the local
government sector. The feedback
was incorporated into the guide,
which has been well received in local
government.
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Human rights
Under the Ombudsman Act, we can enquire
into or investigate whether an administrative
action is incompatible with a human right
set out in the Charter of Human Rights.
The majority of our closed approaches this
year invoking human rights were about the
treatment of persons when deprived of their
liberty.
All persons deprived of liberty must be
treated with humanity and with respect for
the inherent dignity of the human person9.

The footage showed the teenager
being ‘spear tackled’ and held face
down by three authorised officers
for around eight minutes, until police
arrived.
After reviewing the footage, we
started an own motion investigation
into the conduct of the authorised
officers.

People held in closed environments like
prisons and mental health facilities are the
most likely to generate concerns of this
kind. This year, we identified 2,169 such
complaints.

We found that the force used by
one of them was excessive and
amounted to degrading treatment
of the teenage girl – a breach of the
Charter of Human Rights and then
Department of Transport, Planning
and Local Infrastructure’s own policies
and procedures.

Human rights are at risk when those in
authority overstep or misuse their legitimate
powers to unduly restrict people’s
liberty. This can happen outside closed
environments too.

We also investigated the
department’s internal review of the
incident. Their review had concluded
that the officers involved had
complied with training methods and
done nothing wrong.

We published a report in February 2015
that criticised heavy-handed actions by
authorised officers working on Melbourne
public transport. It was our third report in
four years about enforcement on the public
transport network.

Report: excessive use of force
In July 2013 at Flinders Street Station,
authorised officers restrained a 15 year
old girl suspected of not holding a
valid ticket. CCTV and witness footage
of the incident was widely released
in December 2013 and received
extensive media coverage. People
in the community and Members of
Parliament expressed concern at
the officers’ actions and that the
department had not taken any action
against them. A public petition was
signed by 20,000 people.

9
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Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities Act 2006
section 22.
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We found that the internal review
lacked rigour: it did not include
interviews with the girl concerned
or any independent witnesses. It
also lacked independence, as it was
conducted by the same unit that had
done the initial investigation.
While the department had accepted
the recommendations from our two
previous reports on enforcement on
the public transport network, this
incident suggested that the culture
and behaviour of authorised officers
had not improved.
Before finalising our report, we
met with representatives from the
department, Public Transport Victoria
(PTV) and the Public Transport
Ombudsman to discuss our findings
and how to ensure lasting change.

Case study: unreasonable force

Soon after, we received a copy of a
letter from the MCC to the officer
involved, outlining his breaches of the
Code of Conduct, including providing
decent treatment and behaving
professionally.
The letter said that the MCC would
not tolerate this behaviour, and issued
a first and final warning to the officer.
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While he did not directly raise
the issue of human rights, we had
concerns about whether he had been
treated humanely while deprived of
his liberty, according to the Charter of
Human Rights.

We met with MCC management, who
also expressed concern about the
incident, stating that it was ‘atrocious
and unacceptable’. They said they
hadn’t seen the kneeing incident when
they previously viewed the footage.

OUR
ORGANISATION

A man detained at the Melbourne
Custody Centre (MCC) complained
to us that officers had used excessive
force to restrain him, after he had
requested to speak to our office.

While the use of four officers to
move the complainant to a new cell
may have been warranted if the
complainant was resisting or abusive,
we considered the kneeing was
unreasonable force.

OUR
PERFORMANCE

Excessive use of force was also at the centre
of a number of other complaints, as the
following examples illustrate.

There was no incident report
provided to explain the complainant’s
concerns or the incident.

HUMAN
RIGHTS

• PTV had engaged an external
consultant to conduct an industrywide review of authorised officer
training, to create a more customerfocused approach.

COLLABORATION

• all private operators of public
transport in Victoria had issued
policy guidance on de-escalation
and the use of authorised officers’
powers of arrest

When we reviewed the footage,
it showed an officer deliberately
putting his knee into the
complainant’s lower back. The
footage also showed the complainant
restrained with his hands behind his
back, his head pushed down and four
officers restraining him during the
walk from one cell to the other.

ACCOUNTABILITY

At 30 June 2015:

We made enquiries with the MCC,
who advised us that the complainant
had refused to move from his cell
for transfer to another cell. The MCC
said that staff used force to move the
complainant to his new cell, and that
CCTV footage showed that staff used
reasonable force. We requested to
view the CCTV footage.

OUR
WORK FAIRNESS

We recommended that PTV review
authorised officer training, with an
emphasis on customer service and
defusing and de-escalating conflict.
We also recommended that PTV
engage an external agency to review
serious incidents involving authorised
officers.

ABOUT
FOREWORD THE VO

We tabled our report in February
2015, recommending the transfer
of responsibility for authorised
officers from the now Department
of Economic Development, Jobs,
Transport and Resources to PTV.
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All agencies that provide services in
the [health, care or disability] sectors
must meet their legal obligations
under the Charter of Human Rights and
Responsibilities Act 200610.
We launched an investigation into
possible breaches of human rights when
a Community Visitors annual report raised
concerns about the care of mental health
patients at an acute psychiatric facility.
Community Visitors have a role under state
legislation to enquire into the treatment and
care of people with mental illness in public
mental health facilities. They are volunteers
who seek to protect and promote the
interests, rights and dignity of people in
these facilities by:
• responding to complaints
• making unannounced visits to facilities
and making enquiries of residents and
staff
• examining documentation.

Report: human rights of people
with mental illness
The Community Visitors Annual
Report 2012–2013 detailed patient
complaints about staff using
excessive force in a psychiatric facility.
The agency operating the facility had
refused to give Community Visitors
access to incident reports relating to
patient injuries, despite having patient
consent to see the reports.
In refusing access, the agency cited
staff confidentiality concerns and
a belief that incident reports were
not medical records and therefore
not required to be made available to
Community Visitors. It also said that
the legislation did not require them to
keep incident reports.

10 Victorian Ombudsman, Investigation following concerns
raised by Community Visitors about a mental health
facility, October 2014, page 3.
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This meant that Community Visitors
could not establish whether the issues
raised by patients were appropriately
recorded or investigated. They could
therefore not reassure patients that
their concerns had been taken
seriously.
We launched an own motion
investigation into this and other issues
raised in the Community Visitors report.
We confirmed that the agency had
either refused to provide the incident
reports, or did so only after long delays.
The facility’s poor record keeping
prevented us from reaching
conclusions about allegations of the
use of excessive force. Only one of
five patients who had complained of
injury had an incident report.
This left the complaints of excessive
force unresolved for all parties –
patients, Community Visitors, staff
and the facility.
The absence of incident reports was
a lost opportunity to analyse and
understand the factors that contribute
to incidents and to improve practices
and training for staff.
We tabled our report in October
2014. As a result of our investigation,
the agency took a number of steps,
including:
• reiterating to all staff their obligation
to support patients making
complaints and to assure them that
their complaints would be taken
seriously
• reminding staff that complaints
need to be managed in line with
the facility’s policy, which includes
preparing an incident report
• improving staff training by extending
training time, delivering it face-toface and including role play.

• regular random audits of bedded
services
• formal and informal feedback and
education by the executive

• an update of the electronic
handover system
• sharing audit results with staff,
consumers and senior management

• maintaining current, individual and
interdisciplinary treatment, care and
recovery plans

This means that the system is
fundamentally failing to deliver
protection in a coherent and
consistent way.
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• making a greater effort to reduce the
use of restrictive practices, restraints
and seclusion.

The overwhelming conclusion is
that oversight arrangements in
Victoria are fragmented, complicated
and confusing. There is a lack of
ownership of the problem, little clarity
about who is responsible for what,
overlapping responsibilities and gaps.

OUR
ORGANISATION

Our investigation highlighted several issues
that agencies providing mental health
services should consider to ensure they
meet their obligations under the Charter of
Human Rights, including:

The Phase 1 report was released in
June 2015. In it, we identified some
areas of good practice that Victoria
can build on, but we also found a
number of serious issues.

OUR
PERFORMANCE

It reported that 96 per cent of patients
now had treatment plans, compared
to 14 per cent six months earlier.

We called for submissions from
people who had experience of
reporting abuse, receiving 78
submissions from clients, family
members and staff in the sector.
This was invaluable in shaping our
understanding of the extent of the
problems.

HUMAN
RIGHTS

• asking for feedback from patients
about treatment plans.

We split our investigation into
two phases, so we could report
on oversight systems in time to
contribute to the development of
safeguards for the National Disability
Insurance Scheme. This also allowed
us to have input into the Victorian
Parliamentary Inquiry into Abuse in
Disability Services.

COLLABORATION

• a review and update of policies and
treatment plans

In December 2014, prompted by
concerns in the community, the
disability sector and the media, we
launched an investigation into how
allegations of abuse in the disability
sector are reported and investigated.

ACCOUNTABILITY

In an update in May 2015, the agency
advised us that it had implemented:

Report: human rights of people
with disability

OUR
WORK FAIRNESS

The agency accepted our
recommendation to randomly audit
treatment plans to ensure they are
completed in a timely manner.

ABOUT
FOREWORD THE VO

The Community Visitors report also
raised agencies’ failure to provide
treatment plans to patients. Our
random sample of 21 patient files
revealed that only half contained a
treatment plan.
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People with disability may not report
abuse, for fear they will either not be
believed, nothing will happen, or they
will suffer repercussions.
The key recommendation in the
report is that a single independent
body be established to oversee
reports of abuse in the disability
sector.

Human rights portfolio
The human rights portfolio is responsible
for implementing our internal human
rights policy, engaging with stakeholders
on Charter issues and monitoring
developments within the sector.
This year the portfolio has:
• built relationships with human rights
stakeholders to inform our position on
the operation of the Charter

Our recommended framework
includes mandatory reporting,
powers to investigate both individual
complaints and systemic issues,
public reporting on trends, and
the ability to share information
with police and other bodies as
appropriate.

• responded to the Victorian
Government’s 2015 review of the
Charter11
• contributed to the Victorian Equal
Opportunity and Human Rights
Commission’s 2014 Charter review

The report also recognised the critical
role of advocates in assisting people
with disability. This is especially the
case when dealing with allegations of
abuse, where people may be afraid to
complain or may not have the capacity
to complain on their own behalf.

• supported our Portfolios and
Administrative Improvement team to
refine internal policies and resources, to
help our investigation officers identify,
record and report human rights issues.

Phase 2 of the investigation, to be
delivered later in 2015, will look in
greater depth at the process for
reporting and investigating abuse,
drawing on the experience of
individuals.

11
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Our submission is available on our website at
<www.ombudsman.vic.gov.au/Publications/Submissions>.
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Our performance
This section outlines our performance
against our Interim Corporate Services
Business Focus, our Strategic Framework
2014–17 commitments and the Department
of Treasury and Finance’s Budget Papers
No. 3 Service Delivery (BP3) targets.

• engaging with the community
• developing a more accessible and
efficient complaint handling system for
Victorians
• achieving recognition as a leader
for our expertise and excellence in
complaint handling.

Staff were consulted in the development of
the strategic framework, which was finalised
in September 2014 (refer to Appendix 2).

Providing accessible and
responsive services
We commit to services being:
• free, fair and independent
• open and transparent
• evidence based
• focused on practical and meaningful
outcomes to address injustice
• sensitive to the circumstances of
individuals and communities with
specific needs.

Regional Victoria
This year, we visited more people and
organisations in regional Victoria. We
wanted to let people know that our service
is available to all Victorians, no matter where
they live.
We went to Wangaratta, East Gippsland,
Geelong and Warrnambool, meeting staff
from government agencies, community
service organisations and Members of
Parliament.

VICTORIAN OMBUDSMAN ANNUAL REPORT 2015
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The strategic framework sets out a
number of commitments, covering service
provision, education and awareness, and our
accountability.

• providing authoritative and
informative reports to the Victorian
Parliament.

OUR
ORGANISATION

Appendix 1 provides more detail on
initiatives in these four areas and our
progress. Our program was ambitious, and
included a restructure of corporate services.

• working constructively with the
public sector to promote best
practice

OUR
PERFORMANCE

We developed the Interim Corporate
Services Business Focus to maintain
momentum around our priorities.

• challenging poor public
administration

HUMAN
RIGHTS

• turning complaint data into knowledge

• educating Victorians on the role of
the Ombudsman, how to complain
and what they should expect from
their dealings with the public sector

COLLABORATION

We identified four focus areas:

• providing accessible and responsive
services

ACCOUNTABILITY

With 2014-15 being the current
Ombudsman’s first full year in office, and
following changes to our leadership team, it
was the right time to review how we would
deliver services, in both the medium and
long term.

We commit to:

OUR
WORK FAIRNESS

Introduction

Digital developments
In May this year, we finalised our Digital
Strategy 2015–18 which aims to make it easier
for people to lodge and track their complaint,
and enable us to provide better service.
As part of the strategy, we are developing a
‘virtual assistant’ on our website, which will
help guide people through the complaint
process and answer their individual
questions.

People with disability
As part of our investigation into allegations
of abuse in the disability sector, we
produced information in accessible
formats, such as Easy English fliers and
presentations, and video and audio.
Our website is also now compliant
with accessibility standards and we are
increasingly mindful of making our materials
user-friendly for Victorians of all abilities.
Figure 14: Image of Easy English document
produced by Scope for our investigation
into allegations of abuse in the disability
sector*

How we will do this work

1 We will look at how people can report
abuse in disability services.

Report means to tell another person.

Abuse means hurt another person. For
example, hit a person or touch a person in a
way they do not want you to.

2 We will look at what happens when
● someone reports abuse
● people try to find out what happened.
This is called an investigation.

*The Easy English document produced by Scope (2015)
uses The Picture Communication Symbols ©1981-2010 with
permission from Mayer-Johnson. All Rights Reserved Worldwide.
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Educating Victorians on the
role of the Ombudsman, how
to complain and what they
should expect from their
dealings with the public sector
People most in need of help, particularly
those who are vulnerable because of health,
age, disability or language, are often the
least likely to know about or contact us. We
want this to change.

Research: understanding our
community
To get a picture of what people
know about us, we commissioned
independent market research. In
February 2015, 1,000 people completed
an online survey. The survey sample
was representative of the Victorian
population for age, income, location
and language spoken at home.
We found that 86 per cent of
Victorians value the work of our office
as an important part of our democracy.
The findings included that younger
people were less likely to have heard of
the Ombudsman and that older people
were more likely to complain to us.
While 67 per cent of respondents said
they would be likely to complain first to
the agency involved, only 41 per cent
had confidence that their complaint
would be handled well by the agency.
This emphasises the need for agencies
to have a positive culture around
complaints and to respond effectively
to the complaints they receive.
Only seven per cent of respondents
had made a complaint or had made
contact with our office, but of them,
86 per cent found the experience
satisfactory/positive.
Just under 40 per cent of people said
they would bring a complaint to us,
which means we have work to do in
raising awareness about our service.
The survey has given us a useful
benchmark against which to measure
change in public understanding.

18
presentations
to public
sector bodies

We engaged with over 25 public sector
agencies and community groups through:

• board discussions
• sponsored events
• meetings
• information sharing.

In partnership with IBAC and the Victorian
Auditor-General’s Office, we published
Safeguarding Integrity: a guide to the
integrity system in Victoria, to help public
sector employees and the community
understand Victoria’s integrity system and
its key agencies.

Our data sharing pilot is helping Corrections
Victoria address the issues underlying
complaints (refer to Collaboration section
on page 41).
The pilot is an example of collaboration that
builds the capacity of an agency without
compromising our independence.
Our good practice guide for council
complaint handling (discussed on page 41)
was prepared in consultation with all 79
Victorian councils. It provides practical and
useful advice to help councils deal with
complaints fairly and efficiently.
In collaboration with ombudsman offices in
Australia and New Zealand, we published
the Australasian best practice guidelines
for complaint handling at universities. The
guidelines set out best practice, tailored to
universities’ unique procedures.
VICTORIAN OMBUDSMAN ANNUAL REPORT 2015
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Demand for us to present remains high,
and we are committed to meeting these
requests wherever possible.

Working constructively with
the public sector to promote
best practice

OUR
ORGANISATION

These occurred at both metropolitan and
regional locations.

We will continue to bring these issues to
public and parliamentary attention.

OUR
PERFORMANCE

• presentations and workshops on
our role, good practice in complaint
handling and upholding people’s rights

• breaches of the Charter of Human
Rights (refer to authorised officers
investigation on page 42).

HUMAN
RIGHTS

• education sessions

• lack of understanding of and addressing
conflicts of interest (refer to Office of
Living Victoria investigation on page 38)

COLLABORATION

9
presentations
to education
institutions

• poor record keeping practices (refer to
investigation of a mental health facility
on page 44)

ACCOUNTABILITY

58
awareness
raising
sessions

• a lack of coordination within
departments, especially when handling
complaints (refer to disability abuse
investigation on page 45)

OUR
WORK FAIRNESS

10 visits to
correctional
facilities

8 events for
community
groups

Courage in challenging poor
public administration
This year, we made 50 formal
recommendations to departments and
agencies. Our enquiries and investigations
identified some common and persistent
issues:

24
presentations
to regional
audiences
11 events
for local
government
audiences

ABOUT
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Figure 15: How we raised awareness of our
office in 2014-15

Diploma of Government
(Investigation)
We prepare and deliver high-level training
to public servants through the Diploma of
Government (Investigation).
This year, we hosted 22 participants from a
range of offices including:
• Legal Services Commissioner
• New South Wales Ombudsman
• New Zealand Ombudsman
• Queensland Ombudsman
• Victorian Ombudsman
• Public Transport Ombudsman
• Local Government Investigation and
Compliance Inspectorate
• Commission for Children and Young
People.
We have recently revised the program to
make it more effective, shorter and cheaper
for participants.

Providing authoritative and
informative reports to the
Victorian Parliament
We tabled eight reports in Parliament,
making recommendations to improve public
sector policy, processes and systems.
Table 7: Reports tabled in Parliament 2014-15
Investigation into allegations of improper
conduct in the Office of Living Victoria,
5 August 2014
Victorian Ombudsman 2013-14 Annual Report,
4 September 2014
Investigation following concerns raised by
Community Visitors about a mental health
facility, 15 October 2014
Investigation into an incident of alleged
excessive force used by authorised officers,
12 February 2015
Councils and complaints – A report on current
practice and issues, 25 February 2015
Investigation into Department of Health
oversight of Mentone Gardens, a Supported
Residential Service, 15 April 2015
Investigation of allegations of improper
conduct by officers of VicRoads, 10 June 2015
Investigation into disability abuse reporting:
Phase 1 – the effectiveness of statutory
oversight, 25 June 2015
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Complaints about us
There are times when people are dissatisfied
with our service.

• in 23 cases, an internal review overseen
by the Deputy Ombudsman was
undertaken by an officer not involved in
the initial matter

• in 13 cases, we made further enquiries
on the basis of the complainant’s
concerns

In all cases, we provided the information
the Inspectorate requested for his office’s
review. In response, the Inspectorate
advised that he would be taking no further
action on these matters.

COLLABORATION

• in 22 cases, we clarified or provided
supporting detail of our decision to the
complainant

ACCOUNTABILITY

This year, there were 62 requests from
complainants for internal review of our
handling of their complaint. In response:

In 2014-15, the Victorian Inspectorate
sought information from us in relation
to 10 complaints he had received about
our complaint handling. These included
allegations that our staff had been unjust
or unreasonable in their consideration of a
complaint, or that there had been a delay in
providing an outcome.

OUR
WORK FAIRNESS

These complaints are handled through
an internal review process, and/or review
by IBAC (for complaints about corrupt
conduct) or the Victorian Inspectorate (for
complaints about staff conduct).

We finalised 24 requests for internal
review (this included requests raised in
the previous year, which carried over into
2014–15). In 18 cases, the original findings
were upheld. In six cases, the initial finding
was amended.

HUMAN
RIGHTS

• in four cases, the complainant did
not respond to requests for further
information or they requested a review
before we had provided them with an
outcome.

OUR
PERFORMANCE
OUR
ORGANISATION
STATUTORY
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Our organisation
To more accurately reflect the nature of our
own motion function, we renamed our Major
Investigations area ‘Strategic Investigations’.
This area’s responsibility is to conduct
investigations into systemic issues and
protected disclosure complaints, which often
take longer and are more resource-intensive.
This function is led by Jenny Hardy.
We established a new area called Portfolios
and Administrative Improvement. Led
by Cassandra Mertono, its objective is to
coordinate portfolios across the office and
provide direction to them on liaising with
agencies.
Executive team, left to right: Assistant
Ombudsman Stephen Mumford; Ombudsman
Deborah Glass; Deputy Ombudsman Megan
Philpot
This year we commenced building solid
foundations for the future.
We finalised organisational and governance
reviews and renewed our focus on quality
in our communications, interactions and
investigations.
We are updating policies and procedures,
and building staff confidence in using our
legislation to best effect.

Organisational structure
To improve efficiency, we started a review
of our core operations area, naming it
Statutory Functions.
Within this area, we renamed Complaint
Resolution as ‘Enquiries and Investigations’,
which better aligns with the language in
the Ombudsman Act. This area performs
the majority of our work under the Act, and
includes the Intake (call centre) area. It was
led by Therese Quin, who was acting in this
role while Joy Patton was on secondment.
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This area has focused on reviewing all our
policies, procedures and internal guidance
material, including for dealing with
human rights breaches and exercising our
discretion.
All these functions are headed by the
Deputy Ombudsman, Megan Philpot.
The previously named Corporate Services
is now called the ‘Services Division’. With
the name change came a restructure,
completed in February 2015. Under the
Assistant Ombudsman Stephen Mumford, it
comprises three branches:
• Communication and Culture
• Finance and Business Improvement
• Knowledge and Technology.
Communication and Culture, led by Lynne
Haultain, is made up of two teams:
• People and Strategy: focuses on how
we develop the organisation through
our people, and on strategic and
business planning
• Communication and Engagement:
a new function that supports our
commitment to raise awareness of our
service with all Victorians, and make it
easier to complain.

• IT Operations
• Data Analytics and Digitisation

This area has become more externally
directed, with mandates to deliver
our priority initiatives such as a single
complaints portal for Victorian complaint
handling bodies, user-centric data analysis
and broader use of digital services.

Seventy-two staff members completed
the survey – an 84 per cent response rate,
compared to the average response rate of
around 32 per cent13.
The survey identified that:

• there was an increase in equal
employment opportunity results
compared to the previous year.
It highlighted areas we are working on
improving, including occupational health
and safety, communication around change
and job security.

HUMAN
RIGHTS
OUR
PERFORMANCE

We have strengthened our governance
framework to better assess the performance
of the office and our compliance with
legislative requirements, relevant standards,
and community expectations of probity and
openness.

• staff are supportive and feel supported

COLLABORATION

• public sector values are embedded in
our culture

The new structure builds our capability and
creates more opportunities for cross-office
collaboration. Our current organisation
chart is at Appendix 3.

Governance framework

ACCOUNTABILITY

• Innovation.

The survey is designed for the Victorian
public sector, with more than 140
organisations participating each year.
The information collected is used by
participating organisations to identify
their strengths and weaknesses. It helps
organisations measure their progress
in embedding the public sector values
and employment principles in their work
culture12.

OUR
WORK FAIRNESS

Knowledge and Technology, led by Henry
Chung Yan, has three teams:

ABOUT
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Finance and Business Improvement is
led by John Morison. As well as financial
oversight and planning, this year it focussed
on improving our business processes and
support services.

More detail is in Appendix 4 and at page 60.

OUR
ORGANISATION

Results of People Matter
Survey
The People Matter Survey is an employee
opinion survey run by the Victorian Public
Sector Commission from March to May
each year.

12

<www.vpsc.vic.gov.au/ethics-behaviours-culture/peoplematter-survey/> viewed on 18 September 2015.

13

As reported by the Victorian Public Sector Commission.
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The survey provides valuable feedback on
the application of the public sector values
and employment principles. The survey
measures other aspects of the workplace,
such as how engaged and satisfied
employees are, workplace wellbeing,
employee commitment and perceptions of
how well change is managed.

Our people

Learning and development
Staff learning and development activities
are planned with managers to determine
the needs of individual staff, each area and
the office overall. The 2014-15 program
covered the following topics:
• phone interview skills
• dealing with challenging behaviours
• case and time management
• presentation skills
• written communication skills
• management training.
We also delivered a rolling program of
informal sessions for all staff to improve
their knowledge of relevant legislation and
its application.

Certificate IV in Government
(Investigation)

We are a diverse office, consisting of
86 staff with varying backgrounds and
experience. Seventy per cent of our full time
equivalent staff are female and 79 per cent
of staff are 44 years of age or under. See
Tables 8 and 9 for our staff profile.
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In addition to the Diploma of Government
(Investigation) (refer to page 50), we
offer eligible investigation officers an
opportunity to complete the Certificate IV in
Government (Investigation), an accredited
Vocational Education and Training course.
The certificate is tailored to the needs of
our office, and is delivered in partnership
with Box Hill Institute of TAFE. Eight staff
completed the certificate in 2014.
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Table 8: Staff profile by employment status at 30 June 2015*
Ongoing

Fixed term

Casual

Total

FTE

Number
(headcount)

FTE

Number
(headcount)

FTE

Number
(headcount)

FTE

57

55.10

22

21.40

7

3.59

86

80.09

OUR
WORK FAIRNESS

Number
(headcount)

*Employees have been correctly classified in workforce data collections.

Table 9: Staff profile by age, gender and employment status as at 30 June 2015*

Ongoing Employees

June 2015
Fixed term
and casual

Ongoing Employees

Fixed term
and casual

Number
(headcount)

FTE

FTE

Number
(headcount)

FTE

FTE

Male

21

20.80

5.79

15

15.00

8.42

Female

37

35.30

10.41

42

40.10

16.57

Total

58

56.10

16.2

57

55.10

24.99

Under 25

6

6.00

2.42

2

2.00

4.00

25-34

22

21.40

3.59

25

25.00

11.46

35-44

16

14.70

4.40

20

18.30

3.40

45-54

9

9.00

1.00

6

5.80

3.00

55-64

3

3.00

2.00

4

4.00

3.00

Over 64

2

2.00

2.79

0

0.00

0.13

58

56.1

16.2

57

55.1

24.99

EO 2

0

0.00

2.00

0

0.00

1.00

EO 3

0

0.00

0.00

0

0.00

1.00

Other

0

0.00

1.00

0

0.00

1.13

Senior Specialist

5

5.00

0.00

4

4.00

1.00

VPS 2

1

1.00

2.41

0

0.00

3.46

VPS 3

19

18.30

3.00

9

8.80

6.40

VPS 4

12

11.40

2.00

22

21.60

5.00

VPS 5

17

16.40

4.00

16

14.70

4.00

VPS 6

4

4.00

1.79

6

6.00

2.00

Total

58

56.1

16.2

57

55.1

24.99

Gender

COLLABORATION

Age

HUMAN
RIGHTS
OUR
PERFORMANCE

Total
Classification
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*Excludes staff on leave without pay, volunteers, contractors and consultants. Employees reported as ‘secondees’ are included in
the ‘fixed term’ counts.
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Statutory disclosures
Under the Standing Direction 4.2 Reporting
Requirements for the Department of
Treasury and Finance and the Financial
Management Act 1994, we are required to
report on a number of statutory disclosures.
The disclosure index is at Appendix 5.

Accountable officer’s
declaration
In accordance with the Financial
Management Act 1994, I am pleased to
present the Report of Operations for the
Victorian Ombudsman office for the year
ended 30 June 2015.

Deborah Glass OBE
Ombudsman
19 September 2015
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Output statement
The output statement for Ombudsman
services is published in the Victorian
Department of Treasury and Finance’s
Budget Paper No. 3 Service Delivery
(BP3) each financial year. The format is
standardised across public sector agencies,
including the use of targets. Table 10
outlines the outputs our office provided to
the government.
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Table 10: Output statement for 2014-15
Output

2013-14
target

2013-14
actual

2014-15
target

2014-15
actual

number

14,000

13,152

14,000

13,864

Quantity measures
Jurisdictional complaints finalised

Comment: The quantity measure results are contingent on circumstances which arise during the year
including the number of approaches.
Reports tabled in Parliament

number

10

12

10

8

ACCOUNTABILITY

Comment: The number of reports tabled in any year is contingent on a range of circumstances,
including the length of the investigative and reporting process, the complexity of the subject matter
and the parliamentary timetable. This year we undertook two major reports for which we took
submissions and this lengthened the process. The Ombudsman is seeking changes to legislation to
enable her to table reports when Parliament is not sitting, in line with other similar agencies.
Quality measures

per cent

Not
measured

n/a

<1.5%

0.04%

86

90

96

COLLABORATION

Proportion of jurisdictional
complaints where the original
outcome is set aside by a review
undertaken in accordance with
the Ombudsman’s internal
review policy

per cent

80

HUMAN
RIGHTS

Comment: The office exceeded its target for this quality measure.

Comment: The 2014-15 result exceeds the target due to the Ombudsman’s office putting much effort
into ensuring that its investigations are thorough and fair. This includes seeking input from agencies
subject to investigation to ensure that recommendations are well founded and achievable.
Timeliness measures
per cent

95

92

95

OUR
ORGANISATION

Complaints resolved within
30 calendar days of receipt

OUR
PERFORMANCE

Recommendations accepted by
agencies upon completion of
investigations

OUR
WORK FAIRNESS

Unit of
measure

88

Comment: The under-target outcome for the timeliness measure is a result of an increased workload
due to:
• increase in jurisdictional cases handled by the office
increase in the number of complaints the Ombudsman enquired into or investigated, improving
outcomes for more people

•

impact of completing the Ombudsman’s investigation into Reporting and investigation of
allegations of abuse in the disability sector: Phase 1 – the effectiveness of statutory oversight within
tight timeframes to inform the Victorian Parliamentary Inquiry into Abuse in Disability Services and
the quality and safeguarding framework of the National Disability Insurance Scheme.

STATUTORY
DISCLOSURES
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Employment and conduct
principles
The office of the Victorian Ombudsman is
committed to applying merit and equity
principles when appointing staff. Our
selection processes ensure that applicants
are assessed and evaluated fairly and
equitably on the basis of key selection
criteria and other accountabilities without
discrimination.
Our employees comply with the public
sector values established under the Public
Administration Act 2004. The values
prescribe the behaviours expected of public
officials, which exemplify responsiveness,
integrity, impartiality, accountability, respect,
leadership, and promote human rights.

Public sector employment principles
We embrace the public sector employment
principles established under section 66 of
the Public Administration Act. We ensure
that:
• employment decisions are based on
merit
• employees are treated fairly and
reasonably
• equal employment opportunity is
provided
• employees have a reasonable avenue of
redress against unfair or unreasonable
treatment
• a career public service is fostered.
We also ensure that human rights, as set out
in the Charter of Human Rights, are upheld.

Workforce inclusion
We are committed to providing a working
environment where equal opportunity and
diversity are valued. Our workforce inclusion
practices have resulted in 30 per cent male
and 70 per cent female ongoing, fixed term
or casual employees this financial year.
Three quarters of our senior level staff (VPS 6
and above) are female.
Our commitment to equal opportunity
extends back many decades. One of the
legacies of Mr Norman Geschke, who
served as Victorian Ombudsman from
1980 to 1994, was employing more female
investigation officers. This progressive
approach continues, with a new focus
on accommodating more flexible work
arrangements.

Disability Action Plan
In compliance with section 38 of the
Victorian Disability Act 2006, we have a
Disability Action Plan.
In 2014-15 we implemented some new
strategies to reduce the barriers to people
with disability accessing our services. We
produced more information in accessible
formats, such as Easy English fliers and
presentations, video and audio. We used
these formats when calling for public
submissions as part of the investigation into
allegations of abuse in the disability sector.
We encourage new employees to
confidentially disclose any disability, so that
we may assist with any ongoing support
needs.

Workforce information

Occupational health and safety

Refer to Tables 8 and 9 on page 55 for our
office’s comparative workforce data.

Under section 25 of the Occupational Health
and Safety Act 2004, employees must take
reasonable care for their own and others’
health and safety and cooperate with their
employer in the workplace.
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Table 11: Performance against Occupational Health and Safety management measures
Key Performance Indicator

Incidents
Claims*

No. of standard claims**

1

2

Fatalities

Fatality claims

0

0

Claim costs

Average cost per standard claim

$85

$6,924***

Return to work

Percentage of claims with return to work
plan <30 days

N/A

N/A

Management
commitment

Evidence of OHS policy statement, OHS
objectives, regular reporting to senior
management of OHS and OHS plans

Completed

Completed

Consultation and
participation

Evidence of agreed structure of designated
workgroups (DWGs), health and safety
representatives
(HSRs) and issue resolution procedures (IRPs)
Compliance with agreed structure of DWGs,
HSRs and IRPs

Completed

Completed

Completed

Completed

Percentage of internal audits/inspections
conducted as planned
Percentage of issues resolved arising from:
– internal audits and inspections
– HSR Provisional Improvement Notices (PINs)
– WorkSafe Notices

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
100%

100%
100%

100%
100%

100%
100%

Risk management

Training

Percentage of staff that have received OHS
training:
– induction
– contractors and temporary staff
Percentage of health and safety representatives
trained:
– on acceptance of role
– on reporting of incidents and injuries

*Data for standard claims, time lost claims and fatality claims are at 30 June for the year shown.
**Standard claims are those that have exceeded the employer excess (for medical and like expenses) threshold and/or liability for
10 working days of time lost.
***This increased cost reflects the nature of one injury claimed for, requiring hospitalisation, extensive physiotherapy and two weeks
absence from work.
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No. of reported incidents
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2014-15
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2013-14

COLLABORATION

Measure

ACCOUNTABILITY

Our Occupational Health and Safety
Committee, established under the provisions
of the Occupational Health and Safety Act,
continues to make recommendations to the
executive about all matters to do with the
health, safety and welfare of employees and
other people at work.

OUR
WORK FAIRNESS

We continued to make stress management
and psychological and physical wellbeing
programs available to staff over the year.

In June 2015, we engaged the Victorian
Equal Opportunity and Human Rights
Commission to deliver training on equal
opportunity, discrimination, bullying and
harassment, and on our Valuing Staff policy
and Issue and Dispute Resolution policy.

ABOUT
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We continued our commitment to the health,
safety and welfare of staff and others in the
workplace. The QUIT smoking program, eye
tests, subsidised spectacles, on-site influenza
inoculations, ergonomic assessments
and confidential counselling with external
professionals remain available to staff.

Victorian Industry Participation
Policy
The Victorian Industry Participation Policy,
in operation since 2001, aims to boost
employment and business growth in
Victoria by encouraging contractors for
major projects to maximise use of local
suppliers, while still delivering value for
money.
The policy applies to all state government
procurements and projects where values
exceed $3 million and have their primary
impact in metropolitan Melbourne, and
those over $1 million that have their primary
impact in regional Victoria.

The Ombudsman Act bestows all the
powers and functions conferred on
the Office of the Ombudsman to the
Ombudsman personally. Employees or
executive staff exercise only the powers and
functions that the Ombudsman delegates to
them.
The Ombudsman’s stewardship is supported
by two committees – the Governance
Committee and the Audit and Risk
Committee. Each committee:
• has terms of reference that are
approved by the Ombudsman stating:
• the purpose and membership
• meeting frequency14
• record keeping obligations

The Victorian Industry Participation Policy
Act 2003 requires public bodies to report
on their compliance. In 2014-15 our office
had no procurements or projects to which
the policy applied.

• reporting obligations
• may coopt expertise from across the
office as required
• receives appropriate secretariat
support

Corporate governance
The corporate governance structure is set
out at Appendix 4.
The Ombudsman is the:
• ‘Accountable Officer’ pursuant
to section 42 of the Financial
Management Act
• ‘Responsible Authority’ under the
Standing Directions of the Minister for
Finance

• reviews performance against purpose
at least annually.

Governance Committee
While the governance framework has many
elements, the key internal mechanism is
the Governance Committee. Consisting of
the Ombudsman, the Deputy Ombudsman
and the Assistant Ombudsman, the
committee reviews the following prior to the
Ombudsman’s formal approval:

• ‘Public Service Body Head’ pursuant
to sub-section 16(1)(h) of the Public
Administration Act and section 3 of the
Privacy and Data Protection Act 2014

• the strategic framework
• annual business plan
• new policies
• substantive revisions to existing policies

• ‘Officer in Charge’ pursuant to section
13 of the Public Records Act 1973.

• strategies and plans that commit
significant resources
• information systems changes.

14
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Which may be that the committee meets as frequently as
it sees fit.

• budget
• strategic risks
• business continuity planning
• information management governance

• key performance indicators
• quality assurance reports
• workforce metrics
• annual business plan.

Audit and Risk Committee

Table 12: Audit and Risk Committee membership

Independent member

Andrew Dell
Head of IT Security
Services Operations
National Australia Bank

Victorian Ombudsman
representative
(ex officio)

Megan Philpot
Deputy Ombudsman
Office of the Victorian
Ombudsman

15

Stephen Mumford
Assistant Ombudsman
Office of the Victorian
Ombudsman

• effectiveness of our information
management systems and other
systems of internal financial control
• acceptability, disclosure and correct
accounting treatment of any significant
transactions that are not part of our
normal course of business.
The committee met four times in 2014-15.

Attestation for Compliance with
Standing Direction 4.5.5 Risk
management framework and
processes
I, Deborah Glass, certify that the office of the
Victorian Ombudsman has complied with
the Ministerial Standing Direction 4.5.5 – Risk
Management Framework and Processes.
The Victorian Ombudsman Audit and Risk
Committee verifies this.

Deborah Glass OBE
Ombudsman

FINANCIAL
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Victorian Ombudsman
representative
(ex officio)

• accountability and internal control
affecting our financial operations
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Adam Awty
Chief Financial Officer
and Company Secretary
CPA Australia

• development, implementation and
operation of our risk management
framework

19 September 2015

Direction 2.2, procedure ‘e’.
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Independent member
and Chairperson

• scope of work of our external auditor

OUR
PERFORMANCE

Our Audit and Risk Committee membership
is shown in Table 12.

• scope of work, performance and
independence of our internal audit
function

HUMAN
RIGHTS

Each public sector agency must, unless
an exemption has been obtained, appoint
an audit committee to oversee and advise
the public sector agency on matters
of accountability and internal control
affecting the operations of the public
sector agency.

• financial reporting

COLLABORATION

The Standing Directions of the Minister for
Finance state15:

• financial performance

ACCOUNTABILITY

• Privacy and Data Protection Act
standards and requirements including
our information security management

OUR
WORK FAIRNESS

• compliance obligations

The committee’s role is to review and advise
our executive about all matters of financial
accountability, internal financial control and
risk management, including:

ABOUT
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The committee regularly reviews the status
of the Victorian Ombudsman’s:
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Strategically focussed

Committed to compliant practices

Our Corporate Planning Framework is based
on the six core elements of the Victorian
Government’s Strategic Management
Framework16:

We are committed to ensuring compliance
with all relevant obligations, internal and
external. We maintain a compliance register
to ensure there is a clear line of accountability
for meeting these requirements. We also use
quality assurance and internal audit programs
to monitor our compliance.

• analyse
• plan
• allocate resources
• implement and monitor

Ethical culture

• evaluate

Good governance practices are only fully
effective when supported by an ethical
culture, where the values of the office are
lived and its institutional practices are
respected. This is particularly critical for us,
where an ethical culture not only supports
good governance but allows our office to
lead the public sector by example.

• report.
Key outputs from the Corporate Planning
Framework are:
• a multi-year strategic framework
• an annual business plan
• regular reporting on progress against
objectives.
Our risk management framework is aligned
to the strategic framework, to give the
Ombudsman confidence that our objectives
can be delivered.

Transparent and accountable
We make our priorities known publicly
through the strategic framework.
Performance targets are set and published
in the performance statement included in
our annual report. The Accountability and
Oversight Committee of Parliament reviews
our annual report and can hold public
hearings where the Ombudsman gives
evidence.
Our actions are also accountable through:
• publishing our policies on our website
• tabling reports in Parliament
• internal review and complaint
processes
• establishing performance criteria for
every member of staff
• our Audit and Risk Committee.

16

62

Department of Treasury and Finance, Strategic Management
Framework, May 2011.
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Our leaders are accountable for upholding
and developing an ethical culture by:
• role modelling ethical conduct
• expressly canvassing ethical issues as
they arise
• recognising and reinforcing ethical
conduct by staff
• intervening and addressing unethical
conduct.
Ethical decision-making is also supported by:
• our Code of Conduct
• the Code of Conduct for Victorian
Public Sector Employees of Special
Bodies issued by the Victorian Public
Sector Commission
• internal policies and procedures, such
as the Conflict of Interest Policy and
the Financial Code of Practice.

Gifts, benefits and hospitality
We have gifts, benefits and hospitality
policies and procedures consistent with the
requirements and accountabilities in the Gifts,
Benefits and Hospitality Policy Framework
for the Victorian Public Sector issued by the
Victorian Public Sector Commission.

We have a comprehensive governance
policy for managing the purchasing of
goods and services. The policy consists of:

• a policy for managing complaints
about our procurements.
We received no complaints about our
procurement activities in 2014-15.

A consultant is a contractor engaged
primarily to perform a discrete task
that facilitates decision-making through
providing expert analysis and advice, and/or
developing intellectual output.
In this context, we engaged four consultants
in 2014-15 where the total fee was in excess
of $10,000, as shown in Table 13.
We also engaged one consultant where
the total fees payable to the individual
consultancy was less than $10,000. The
total expenditure incurred during 2014-15
in relation to this consultant was $6,252
(excluding GST).

HUMAN
RIGHTS

Our governance framework and complaint
management policy are available on our
website.

Consultancy expenditure

Purpose

Total fee
(ex GST)

Expenditure
Future
in 2014-15 expenditure
(ex GST)
(ex GST)

April 2014
Develop an
information security
management
system

April 2015

$71,100

$16,600

Nil

Business as
Usual

Business continuity April 2014
planning and
training

March
2015

$42,252

$6,252

Nil

LAG
Consulting

Develop an
organisational
structure strategy
and supporting
arrangements

June 2014

September $27,000
2014

$15,000

Nil

Lynne
Haultain

Develop a
communication
and engagement
strategy

July 2014

October
2014

$25,600

Nil

$25,600
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Blueprint
Information
Security P/L
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End date

OUR
ORGANISATION

Start date

OUR
PERFORMANCE

Table 13: Consultants engaged where fee was over $10,000
Consultant

COLLABORATION

• an assessment of capability within our
organisation to ensure that we are able
to manage the scope and complexity
of our procurement activities

We did not conduct any activities that
triggered the disclosure threshold of
$150,000 or greater on government
advertising expenditure. Accordingly, I
make a nil report statement against this
requirement.

ACCOUNTABILITY

• a governance framework, which
establishes processes, authorities,
accountabilities and relationships for us
to manage our procurement function

Advertising expenditure

OUR
WORK FAIRNESS

Procurement

ABOUT
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These policies and procedures are reviewed
at least annually. They are provided to the
Audit and Risk Committee, together with the
register of any gifts offered to or received by
our staff, during each reporting period.
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Declaration of private interests
The Deputy Ombudsman, Assistant
Ombudsman and other senior staff have
lodged declarations of pecuniary and
other interests with the Ombudsman. The
Ombudsman has lodged a corresponding
declaration with the Department of Premier
and Cabinet. These declarations are made on
appointment and updated annually or more
frequently as individual circumstances change.

Compliance with the Building Act
1993
We do not own or control any government
buildings and so are exempt from notifying
our compliance with the building and
maintenance provisions of the Building Act
1993.

National Competition Policy
The National Competition Policy requires
that (among other things) where
government services compete with the
private sector, any advantage arising solely
from government ownership be removed if
the advantage is not in the public interest.
We do not provide services in competition
with the private sector.

Office-based environmental
impacts
We continue to monitor our impact on the
environment. Our use of electrical power,
paper and office vehicles over the last five
years is outlined below.

Waste
In 2014-15 we continued to recycle all
recyclable materials including paper,
cardboard, plastics and glass. The materials
are placed in segregated recycling bins
throughout the office. The bin contents are
cleared daily and deposited into communal
recycling facilities serving all tenants in the
building. Printer consumable wastes are
now separately collected.

Electrical power
In 2014-15 electricity use was two per cent
lower than in 2013-14, when measured on
a per FTE staff member basis. Emissions
of greenhouse gas in 2014-15 per FTE staff
member were lower than the previous four
years due to:
• continuing substitution of some power
needs with government accredited
green power sources
• volume dilution, as we employed more
FTE staff members than the previous
year.

Table 14: Electricity usage since 2010-11

Total electricity used in the office (gigajoules)
Electricity used per FTE staff member (megajoules)
Electricity used per m2 office space (megajoules)
Net greenhouse emissions
Net greenhouse emissions per FTE staff member (tonnes)
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2010-11

2011-12

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15

312

305

320

362

394

4,521

4,696

4,792

5,003

4,917

249

243

255

288

314

96

90

94

101

109

1.39

1.39

1.40

1.40

1.37

We use public transport for official business
rather than office cars where feasible. We
have three vehicles, which are all hybrid
electric/petrol vehicles. The increase in
total kilometres driven and kilometres per
FTE staff member for 2014-15, compared
to 2013-14, is due to our commitment to
engage more with the community by
visiting rural and regional areas. This also led
to an increase in vehicle carbon emissions in
2014-15.

Paper
In 2014-15, our paper use – both in total and
per FTE staff member – was below 2013-14
figures.

COLLABORATION

We calculate reams of paper used from
the amount of paper purchased. In 2014-15
the decrease is partly due to a reduction in
paper purchased this year and staff using
paper accumulated from previous years’
purchases. We have notified our paper
supplier to reduce the number of reams
ordered accordingly.
Table 15: Paper usage since 2010-11
2014-15

Total paper used in office (reams)

1,227

1,165

1,195

1,121

893

Paper used per FTE staff member (reams)

17.78

17.95

17.88

15.50

11.15

2010-11

2011-12

2012-13

2013-14

2014-15

35,589

31,865

36,346

31,390

36,397

516

491

544

434

454

Total tonnes CO2-e emitted

6.93

6.20

5.59

4.46

5.17

Tonnes CO2-e emitted per FTE staff member

0.10

0.10

0.08

0.06

0.06

Table 16: Vehicle usage since 2010-11

Passenger vehicle trips

Kilometres driven per FTE staff member
Greenhouse gas emissions associated with vehicles
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2013-14

OUR
ORGANISATION

2012-13

OUR
PERFORMANCE

2011-12

HUMAN
RIGHTS

2010-11

Total kilometres driven

ACCOUNTABILITY

There are no separate water metering
facilities for individual tenancies in the
building occupied by the office. However,
we use water efficient appliances wherever
possible and have signage in our kitchens
and bathrooms reminding staff to save water.

OUR
WORK FAIRNESS

Vehicles
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Water
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Freedom of Information
This section contains information about our
obligations under Part II of the Freedom of
Information Act 1982 (the FOI Act).
The FOI Act creates a right for the public
to access certain documents held by public
sector agencies, including the Victorian
Ombudsman.
In 2014-15 we received three FOI requests
for documents.

Categories of documents held
The Victorian Ombudsman holds the
following categories of documents:
• reports dealing with issues of public
interest, which are tabled in Parliament
and posted on our website

The FOI Act does not apply to documents
that disclose information about:
• a complaint, a referred complaint, a
referred matter or a matter referred to
the Ombudsman by Parliament
• an enquiry or investigation under the
Ombudsman Act
• a recommendation made by the
Ombudsman under the Ombudsman
Act
• a report or draft report made under the
Ombudsman Act.

Publicly available information
The following materials are on our website:
• fact sheets
• guidelines
• policy and practice documents

• internal administrative and operational
documents

• reports

• internal policy and procedural
documents

• information about the availability and
content of community education and
public sector workshops

• documents concerning the
development or implementation of
policy and legislation
• personnel and human resources
documents
• financial records
• legislation and law reports
• documents obtained or created in the
course of conducting investigations or
making enquiries, including complaints,
correspondence, file notes and reports
• documents relating to our functions
under the Protected Disclosure Act
• background material, records of
conversation, analysis and advice
• fact sheets, brochures and promotional
material.
Certain documents are destroyed or
transferred to the Public Records Office in
accordance with the Public Records Act.

• answers to frequently asked questions

• statements about the Ombudsman’s
role, responsibilities, jurisdiction,
governing legislation and reporting to
Parliament
• information about the Protected
Disclosure Act
• media releases
• tabled parliamentary reports
• complaint handling good practice
guides.
This material can also be requested by
phone or in writing.
Level 1 North Tower
459 Collins Street
Melbourne VIC 3000
(03) 9613 6222
1800 806 314
(toll free for regional callers)
Media releases are also available by
subscription, via the ‘News’ section of our
website.
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Access to records

• name
• address
• telephone number
• form of access required, e.g. copy of
documents, inspection of file or other.

DataVic Access Policy
The intent of the government’s DataVic
Access Policy is to enhance public access
to the vast range of information held by
Victorian government agencies. Access is
available at www.data.vic.gov.au.
In 2014-15, we began work on assessing a
range of categories of datasets that may
be suitable for broader use, including at
DataVic. These initial datasets are the
ones that have been made available to
the general public through this annual
report. We will further assess datasets for
this purpose in 2015-16, as part of a data
analytics project being undertaken as part
of our Digital Strategy 2015–18.
Comprehensive information about our
office is already available on our website at:
www.ombudsman.vic.gov.au.

FINANCIAL
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An authorised officer can be contacted by
telephone on (03) 9613 6222 or toll free for
regional callers on 1800 806 314 to answer
questions about making an application.
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FOI Officer
Victorian Ombudsman
Level 1 North Tower
459 Collins Street
Melbourne VIC 3000

Further information about the FOI Act is
available online at www.foi.vic.gov.au.

OUR
ORGANISATION

Requests should be made to:

Information about the appropriate avenue
of appeal will be given to the applicant in
the letter advising of our initial decision.
Applicants are advised to consult Part IV
of the FOI Act for more information about
appeal rights.

OUR
PERFORMANCE

A request for a correction or amendment
of personal information contained in a
document held by us must be made in
writing. It should specify particulars of how
and why the person making the request
believes the information to be incorrect,
incomplete, misleading or out of date and
specify the amendments that they wish to
have made.

Applicants may appeal decisions made
in response to requests for access to
documents or amendment of records,
or the cost levied for allowing access to
documents.

HUMAN
RIGHTS

• details of document(s) requested

Appeals

COLLABORATION

The FOI Act requires applications in writing.
A letter clearly describing the document or
documents sought is sufficient. The letter
should specify that the application is a
request made under the FOI Act and should
not form part of a letter on another subject.
The applicant should provide the following
information:

An application fee of $27.20 is required
unless an authorised officer, satisfied
that the payment of the fee would cause
hardship, waives that fee.

ACCOUNTABILITY

Forms of request for access

Charges

OUR
WORK FAIRNESS

Authorised officers deal with all requests
for access to records held by our office.
Applicants seeking access to documents
should try to specify the topic of interest
rather than the file series in which the
applicant considers the document may exist.

ABOUT
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Making a Freedom of Information
request
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Appendix 1: Interim Corporate Business Focus progress report
Focus area Activity
Strategic
Planning

Engaging
with the
Community

A more
accessible
and
efficient
complaints
handling
system for
Victorians

Progress

• Develop a
Communication and
Engagement Strategy

Complete

The Communications Strategy 2014–17 was finalised in March 2015,
comprising community engagement, media and communications
plans.

• Develop a Digital
Strategy

Complete

The Digital Strategy was endorsed by the Governance Committee
in June and will be reviewed every 12 months.

• Develop a Workforce
Strategy

Rescheduled Work on the Strategy will inform the 2015–16 Annual plan.

• Conduct Corporate
Services transition

Complete

We restructured our Corporate Services division to meet the needs
of the new strategic framework and the Ombudsman’s vision. The
new structure started February 2015.

• Conduct Business
Process Improvement
Project

Complete

A range of business improvement initiatives were identified and
completed in 2014–15 targeting energy efficiency and streamlining
administrative procedures.

• Develop a 2015
Outreach Plan

Complete

The Community Engagement Plan 2015 sets out actions to
increase awareness and understanding of our work across Victoria.

Complete
• Develop a plan for
engaging members of
the 58th Parliament
regarding the role of the
Ombudsman

With the change of government, we contacted all ministers and
members of the Victorian Parliament to provide a point-ofcontact and invite further dialogue.

• Identify further
engagement activities

Complete

Our Communications Strategy 2014–17 (see first item) focusses
our engagement on three target groups:
• people in rural and regional Victoria
• people with disability
• Aboriginal and Torres Straits Islander people.

• Submit funding
application for the first
phase of the ‘common
portal’

Complete

The first phase of the common complaint portal will be funded
within the VO’s 2015–16 budget.

• Implement the first
phase of the common
portal

In progress

The Ombudsman has approved deployment of a virtual assistant
as a proof-of-concept project as the first phase and centrepiece of
a much larger project that will see the development and roll-out of
a best practice, single complaint-handling portal in Victoria.

• Funding and
implementation of an
online educational tool
for referral agents

In progress

The ‘How we can help’ animated video is in development. We
expect to publish it on our website and on the Ombudsman
YouTube channel early in 2015–16.

A number of MPs and/or their staff have been briefed on the
role of the Victorian Ombudsman (VO), the nature of the
parliamentary ombudsman system, and how the VO can assist
with some constituent complaints. As part of the VO’s regional
forum schedule, meetings have been conducted with MPs in their
local areas, and a schedule of visits to Melbourne-based MPs is
also in hand.

In progress
• Develop a project
brief for the full
implementation of digital
record management

Preliminary work has commenced to identify where paper records
are generated, the reasons why and the costs, timeframes and effort
required for these processes. This will be rolled into a 2015–16 annual
plan project to scope the work and build a business case.

In progress

Preliminary work has commenced to ensure internal infrastructure
and applications support the transition and meet higher demands.
This will support the 2015–16 annual plan project on scope and
business case.

• Engage a process
expert to support our
full transition from
paper-based to digital
record keeping systems

Complete
• Review current
workforce management
practices and
prepare a report and
recommendations for
the Executive Planning
workshop
• Identify early
improvements to
business processes and
implement
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Notes

Complete

The report was completed in January 2015 and has informed VO’s
workforce planning.

In 2014–15 we identified a number of initiatives including
establishing fleet vehicle self-manage kits and automating some
processes in our electronic document and records management
system.

VICTORIAN OMBUDSMAN ANNUAL REPORT 2015

Turning
data into
knowledge

Progress

Notes
The prototype of a data analytics tool has been developed. A
pilot project with Corrections Victoria has commenced to show
specific reporting and analytics capability.

In progress

Pilot project with Corrections Victoria commenced.

• Deliver the Diploma of
Investigation

Complete

We continued our partnership with Swinburne University
to deliver the Diploma of Government (Investigation). This
Diploma is a nationally accredited qualification, acknowledging
the practical skills and professional knowledge also gained in
students’ workplaces.

• Promote the Diploma
of Investigation for
Ombudsman-like bodies

Complete

This year, there were 22 students from a range of agencies
including the Legal Services Commissioner, New South Wales
Ombudsman, New Zealand Ombudsman, Commission for
Children and Young People, Queensland Ombudsman, the Local
Government Investigations and Compliance Inspectorate, Public
Transport Ombudsman and participants from our own office.

• Settle on a model for
delivering training to
agencies on complaint
handling. Commence
work on procuring a
partner provider and
accreditation

Rescheduled Rolled into a 2015–16 annual plan project: build the business case

• Explore opportunities
for developing a
program in complaint
handling that can be
delivered to public
sector agencies

Rescheduled Rolled into a 2015–16 annual plan project: build the business case

• Update the office’s
privacy framework to
reflect the strategic
framework

In progress

In March 2015 the Ombudsman wrote to the government outlining
her request for amendments to the legislation to support the
direction of her office, as described in the strategic framework.
This included proposed amendments to confidentiality and
information sharing provisions.

• Refresh the risk register
to reflect the strategic
framework

In progress

As part of VO’s commitment to its risk management framework,
VO is in the process of identifying both its strategic and tactical
risks. The results of that process will be reported to the VO Risk
and Audit Management Committee in 2015–16.

for public sector education.

for public sector education.

OUR
PERFORMANCE

• Commence distributing
information products to
agencies

project.

HUMAN
RIGHTS

Rescheduled Preliminary work undertaken and rolled into a 2015–16 annual plan

COLLABORATION

• Develop a short-term
strategy to disseminate
information products
based on existing
capability and data

ACCOUNTABILITY

In progress

OUR
WORK FAIRNESS

• Development of
business intelligence
application capabilities
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Appendix 2: Strategic Framework 2014-17
The Strategic Framework 2014–17 sets out our purpose, intent and commitments. All our activity
has regard to it.

our intent

ensure Fairness
• independent and impartial complaint resolution
• encourage fair and reasonable decision making
within the public sector
enhance Accountability
• model transparency and openness
• conduct independent investigations into the
most serious matters
foster Continuous Improvement
• share lessons learnt from complaints and
investigations
• investigate systemic issues and identify solutions
protect Human Rights
• ensure human rights are respected.
• make it easier for vulnerable people to complain.

STRATegIC
FRAmewoRk
2014-17
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our purpose

Ensure fairness for Victorians in their dealings with the
public sector and improve public administration.

our commitment

To provide accessible and responsive services that are
• free, independent and impartial
• open and transparent
• evidence based
• focused on practical and meaningful outcomes to address
injustice
• sensitive to the circumstances of individuals and communities
with specific needs.
To educate Victorians on the role of the Ombudsman, how
to complain and what they should expect from their dealings
with the public sector.
To be courageous in challenging poor public administration.
To work constructively with the public sector to promote best
practice.
To provide authoritative and informative reports to the
Victorian Parliament.

• systemic investigations
• protected disclosures
• own motion investigations
• parliamentary referrals

OUR
ORGANISATION

STATUTORY
FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURES STATEMENTS

• complaint intake and
assessment
• enquiries
• investigations

• portfolio oversight and
agency engagement
• policy
• quality assurance
• recommendations
implementation

Portfolios and
Administrative
Improvement

OUR
PERFORMANCE

Strategic
Investigations

• legal

• executive support
• parliament liaison

Executive office

HUMAN
RIGHTS

Enquiries and
Investigations
Communication
and Culture

• people
• communication, media
and engagement
• workplace strategy and
planning

COLLABORATION

Deputy
Ombudsman

Assistant
Ombudsman

• business support
• finance
• records
• business improvement

Finance and Business
Improvement

ACCOUNTABILITY

Ombudsman

Knowledge and
Technology

• IT operations
• data analysis
• digitisation
• innovation

OUR
WORK FAIRNESS
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Appendix 4: Governance framework
We have two formal committees, which are supported by informal groups.

Formal committees

Informal groups

Governance Committee

Leadership Group

• membership: the Ombudsman,
Deputy Ombudsman and Assistant
Ombudsman, supported by the
Executive Officer

• replaced the Executive Management
Team

• meets in the last week of each month

• membership: the Ombudsman, Deputy
Ombudsman, Assistant Ombudsman
and the Directors

• oversees the office’s budget, our
progress in implementing the business
plan, our workforce strategy and our
overall performance

• meets each Monday to discuss
immediate issues affecting the office
and ensure management is working
well as a team

• monitors our compliance with the
various legislative obligations that
apply to all public sector offices

Audit and Risk Committee
• includes independent scrutiny
• advises on the effectiveness of our
financial controls and our system for
managing the risks we encounter in
doing our business

Operations Coordination Group
• replaced the Operations Management
Committee
• membership: all Assistant Directors
• facilitates communication and
cooperation for smooth operation of
the office
• provides feedback on issues such as:
• developing policies and procedures
• considering changes to support
services
• planning for future accommodation
requirements.

Annual plan
The annual plan provides a high-level
description of the activities we will
undertake each financial year. These
activities align with our strategic focus areas
– where we will concentrate our effort over
the three years of each strategic framework.

Risk register
The risk register identifies the risks to
meeting the objectives in the strategic
framework.
The probability and consequences of each
risk is documented. Risks are controlled
through ‘treatment strategies’. An staff
member is assigned responsibility for
monitoring each risk and oversees the
implementation and effectiveness of
treatments.
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This annual report has been prepared in accordance with all relevant Ministerial directions and
legislation. Financial Reporting Direction 10 requires entities to include a disclosure index in their annual
reports. This index identifies our compliance with the statutory disclosure requirements by providing:
• a list identifying the relevant clauses of Victorian legislation with statutory requirements that
the Victorian Ombudsman has to comply with
• the page in our annual report where the disclosure for each requirement is made.
Table 17: Ministerial directions
Legislation

Requirement

Page ref.

Report of Operations

FRD 22F

Manner of establishment and the relevant Ministers

1, 8

FRD 22F

Purpose, functions, powers and duties

FRD 8C

Departmental objectives, indicators and outputs

FRD 22F

Initiatives and key achievements

2

FRD 22E

Nature and range of services provided

8

8, inside cover

47

FRD 22F

Organisational structure

97

Financial and other information

99

FRD 12A

Disclosure of major contracts

n/a

FRD 15B

Executive officer disclosures

88

FRD 22F

Employment and conduct principles

58

FRD 22F

Occupational health and safety policy

58

FRD 22F

Summary of the financial results for the year

FRD 22F

Significant changes in financial position during the year

73

FRD 22F

Major changes or factors affecting performance

n/a

FRD 22F

Subsequent events

n/a

FRD 22F

Application and operation of Freedom of Information Act 1982

66

FRD 22F

Compliance with building and maintenance provisions of Building Act 1993

64

FRD 22F

Statement on National Competition Policy

64

FRD 22F

Application and operation of the Protected Disclosure Act 2012

18

FRD 22F

Application and operation of the Carers Recognition Act 2012

FRD 22F

Details of advertising expenditure over $150,000

n/a
63

FRD 22F

Details of consultancies over $10,000

63

FRD 22F

Details of consultancies under $10,000

63

FRD 22F

Statement of availability of other information

66

FRD 24C

Reporting of office based environmental impacts

64

FRD 25B

Victorian Industry Participation Policy disclosures

60

70–74
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Disclosure index

70–73

OUR
ORGANISATION

FRD 10

Budget portfolio outcomes

57

OUR
PERFORMANCE

Performance against output performance measures

HUMAN
RIGHTS

FRD 8C,
SD4.2(k)
FRD 8C

COLLABORATION

Management and structure

ACCOUNTABILITY

Charter and purpose of office

OUR
WORK FAIRNESS

• a short description of the relevant requirements

ABOUT
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Appendix 5: Disclosure index

Table 17: Continued
FRD 29A

Workforce Data disclosures

58

SD 4.5.5

Risk management compliance attestation

61

SD 4.5.5.1

Ministerial Standing Direction 4.5.5.1 compliance attestation

61

SD 4.2(g)

Specific information requirements

SD 4.2(j)

Sign-off requirements

10-51
inside cover

Financial statements required under Part 7 of the FMA
SD4.2(a)

Statement of changes in Equity

72

SD4.2(b)

Operating statement

70

SD4.2(b)

Balance sheet

71

SD4.2(b)

Cash flow statement

73

Other requirements under Standing Directions 4.2
SD4.2(c)

Compliance with Australian accounting standards and other authoritative
pronouncements

74

SD4.2(c)

Compliance with Ministerial Directions

74

SD4.2(d)

Rounding of amounts

n/a

SD4.2(c)

Accountable officer’s declaration

93

SD4.2(f)

Compliance with Model Financial Report

74

Other disclosures as required by FRDs in notes to the financial statements
FRD 9A

Departmental Disclosure of Administered Assets and Liabilities by Activity

89

FRD 11A

Disclosure of Ex Gratia Expenses

n/a

FRD 13

Disclosure of Parliamentary Appropriations

75

FRD 21B

Disclosures of Responsible Persons, Executive Officers and other Personnel
(Contractors with Significant Management Responsibilities) in the Financial Report

88

FRD 102

Inventories

n/a

FRD 103D

Non financial Physical Assets

82

FRD 104

Foreign Currency

86

FRD 106

Impairment of Assets

76

FRD 109

Intangible Assets

83

FRD 107

Investment Properties

n/a

FRD 110

Cash Flow Statements

73

FRD 112D

Defined Benefit Superannuation Obligations

89

FRD 113

Investments in Subsidiaries, Jointly Controlled Entities and Associates

n/a

FRD 114A

Financial Instruments – General Government Entities and Public Non
Financial Corporations

85

FRD 119A

Transfers through Contributed Capital

n/a

Legislation

Page ref.

Ombudsman Act 1973

8

Freedom of Information Act 1982

66

Building Act 1993

64

Protected Disclosure Act 2012

18

Victorian Industry Participation Policy Act 2003

60

Financial Management Act 1994

74

100

VICTORIAN OMBUDSMAN ANNUAL REPORT 2015

